
Received SEC

tI1i
flgtOfl DC 205



Keystone Consolidated Industries Inc

ANNUAL HIGHLIGHTS

TO OUR STOCKHOLDERS

During 2010 as the depressed economic conditions that began during the fourth quarter of 2008 eased somewhat we increased

our shipment volume to 596000 tons 41 Ye increase over 2009 shipments and our highest level of annual shipments since 2007

Although we significantly increased shipnients during the yeat due to competitive piessures we experienced significant margin

compression as we were unable to implement selling price increases sufficient to entirely recover increases in our operating costs

until late in the year However because we aggressively controlled costs throughout 2010 we were able to record aS lr increase

in our operating income before pension and OPEB which resulted in our seventh consecutive year of positive earnings

This continued trend of positive earnings allowed us to reduce our term debt amend our primary credit facility and undertake

significant capital projects during 2010 We retired total of $12 million of highercost term debt which we funded with draws on

our lower cost revolving credit facility In addition the amendment to our primary credit facility included significantly improved

terms and extended the facilitys maturity for another five yems Major capital projects during the year included the completion

of our four
year $9 million project to rebuild the rod mill reheat furnace at Keystone Steel Wire KSW the beginning of $5

million of infrastructure improvement projects at KSW and $4 million of equipnient upgrades at KSW and KeystoneCalumet

When completed these capital projects should enable us to further reduce operating costs and result in increased profitability

While economic conditions have been improving in recent months current events throughout the world including natural disasters

political turmoil and conflict as well as increasing budget shortfalls of various governmental entities makes the prediction of

continued economic recovery difficult As such in order to further niaximiie stockholder value during 2011 we will continue to

aggressively control operating costs identify additional costsaving capital projects and potential new products customers and

ancillary businesses and carefully manage our liquidity
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Years ended December 31

in 000s except per ton and per share data 2008 2009 2010

Net sales 562693 377347 450745

Operating income lt.493 3209 16.46

Pension credit expense 73923 5887 4654

OPEB credit 8474 4748 5258

Operating income before pension and OPEB 28.096 4348 6550

Income taxes 400t4 2.292 6493
Net income 66114 241 8743

Earnings per share diluted 5.73 0.02 0.7

Sales

Tons shipped 586 422 596

Overall per ton selling prices 955 760 749

Average per-ton ferrous scrap cost of goods sold 368 262 794

Capital expenditures 13.298 9000 14937

Depreciation and amortization 15164 13584 12062

Year end data

Pensissn asset net 40i2 S4806 153962

Total assets 249733 265084 357217

Working capital 55886 49063 55095

Total debt 31630 25370 28681

Stockholders eqoity 119644 147770 191736

Market capitalization

Shares outstanding 12101932 12101932 12101932

Per share market value 6.00 4.00 4.55

72612 48408 55064

Number of employees 1026 1000 974
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PART

This Annual Report contains forward looking statements within the meaning
of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 Scatements in this

Annual Report on Form 10 that are not historical in nature are forward

lnoking and arc not statements of fact Some statements found in this reporr
including but not limited to statements found in Item Business Item 1A

Risk Factors Item Legal Proceedings Item Managements
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and
Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk are

forward-looking statements that represent our beliefs and assumptions based on

currently available information In some cases you can identify these forward-

looking statements by the use of words such as believes intends may
should could anticipates expected or comparable terminology or by
discussions of strategies or trends Although we believe the expectations
reflected in forward-looking statements are reasonable we do not know if these

expectations will be correct Forward-looking statements by their nature

involve substantial risks and uncertainties that could significantly impact
expected results Actual future results could differ materially from those

predicted While it is not possible to identify all factors we continue to
face many risks and uncertainties Among the factors that could cause our
actual future results to differ materially from those described herein are the
risks and uncertainties discussed in this Annual Report and those described
from time to time in our other filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission SEC including but not limited to the following

Future supply and demand for our products including cyclicality
thereof
Customer inventory levels

Changes in raw material and other operating costs such as ferrous

scrap and energy
The possibility of labor disruptions

General global economic and oolitical conditions

Competitive products including low-priced imports and substitute

oroducts

Customer and competitor strategies

The impact of pricing and production decisions

Environmental matters such as those reguiring emission and discharge
limits for existing and new zacilities

novern-cent regulatons ard pssib1 changs thef
Significant increases in the cost of providing medical coverage to

employees
The ultimate resolution of pending litigation U.S Environmental

Protection Agency U.S EPA investigations and audits conducted by
the Internal Revenue Service

International trade policies of the United States and certain foreign
countries

Operating interruptions including but not limited to labor disputes
fires explosions unscheduled or unplanned downtime supply

disruptions and transportation interruptions

Our ability to renew or refinance credit facilities

The ability of our customers to obtain adeguate credit and

Any possible future litigation

Should one or more of these risks materialize if the consequences

worsen or if the underlying assumptions prove incorrect actual results could

differ materially from those forecasted or expected We disclaim any
intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement
whether as result of changes in information future events or otherwise



ITEM BUSINESS

Keystone Consolidated Industries Inc KCI is leading domestic

producer of steel fabricated wire products industrial wire and wire rod We

also manufacture wire mesh coiled rebar steel bar and other products Our

products are used in the agricultural industrial cold drawn construction

transportation original equipment manufacturer and retail consumer markets
We are vertically integrated converting substantially all of our products
from billet produced in our steel mini mill Historically our vertical

integration has allowed us to benefit from the higher and more stable margins
associated with fabricated wire products and wire mesh as compared to wire

rod as well as from lower costs of billet and wire rod as compared to bar
manufacturers and wire fabricators that purchase billet and wire rod in the

open market Moreover we believe our downstream fabricated wire products
wire mesh coiled rebar and industrial wire businesses are better insulated

from the effects cif wire rod imports as compared to non-integrated wire rod

producers

Our operating segments are organized by our manufacturing facilities and
include three reportable segments

Keystone Steel Wire KSW located in Peoria Illinois operates
an electric arc furnace mini-mill rod mill industrial wire mill and

wire product fabrication facilities and manufactures and sells wire

rod coiled rebar industrial wire fabricated wire and other

products to agricultural industrial construction commercial
original equipment manufacturers and retail consumer markets

Engineered Wire Products Inc EWP located in Upper Sandusky
Ohio manufactures and sells wire mesh in both roll and sheet form
that is utilized as reinforcement in concrete construction products

including oipe pre-cast boxes and applications for use in roadways
buildings and bridges and

Keystone Calumec Inc Calumet located in Chicago Heights
Illinois manufactures and sells merchant and special bar quality

products and special sections in carbon and alloy steel grades for

use in agricultural cold drawn construction industrial chain
service centers and transportation applications as well as in the

production of wide variety of products by original equipment
manufacturers

Calumets primary raw material is billet and EWPs primary raw material

is wire rod Both Calumet and EWP source the majority of their primary raw
material requirements from KSW

For additional information about our segments see Part II Item

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations and Note to our Consolidated Financial Statements

We are the successor to Keystone Steel Wire Company which was founded

in 1889 At December 31 2010 Contran Corporation Contran owned

approximately 62% of our outstanding common stock In March 2011 Contran

completed tender offer in which it purchased 1.6 million shares of our common
stock Following completion of such purchase under the tender offer Contran

owns approximately 75% of our outstanding shares Substantially all of

Contrans outstanding voting stock is held by trusts established for the

benefit of certain children and grandchildren of Harold Simmons for which

Mr Simmons is the sole trustee or is held directly by Mr Simmons or other

persons or companies related to Mr Simmons Consequently Mr Simmons may be

deemed to control Contran and us
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Unless otherwise indicated references in this renort to we us or
our refer to KCI and its subsidiaries taken as whole

Manufacturing

Overview

Our manufacturing operations consist of an electric arc rurnace mini
mill rod mill wire mill an industrial wire mill and three steel product
fabrication facilities as outlined in our segment discussion above The

manufacturing process commences at hEW where ferrous scrap is melted in an
electric arc furnace converted into molten steel and then transferred to

ladle refining furnace where chemistries and temperatures are monitored and

adjusted to specifications prior to casting The molten steel is transferred
from the ladle refining furnace into six strand continuous casting machine

which produces five inch squaie strands referred to as billets that are cut

to predetermined lengths These billets are then either transferred to the

adjoining rod mill shioped to Calumet ror the production of steel bars or

sometimes sold to third party customers

Upon entering the rod mill the billets are brought to rollirg
temperature in reheat furnace and are fed through the rolling mill where

they are rolled into either wire rod or coiled rebar in variety of

diameters surface characteristics and specifications After rolling the wire
rod or rebar is coiled and cooled After cooling the coiled wire rod or
rebar passes through inspection stations for metallurgical surface and
diameter checks Finshed coils are compacted and tied Coiled rebar is

shipped to customers and wire rod is either rurther processed into industrial

wire wire mesh and fabriatd wire prnducts at- FEWs indiistrial wr mill and
wire product fabrication facilities at KSW or EWP or shipped to wre rod

customers

While we do rot maintan signfcanu sill inveito or rsted
wIre rod we geera ha or hand approximately one month supply or

ndust.ial yire wirt sh coiled ebar fabicated wire products 0nd steel

barr inventory which enables us scomer orders ard respond to shifts

product demand

Raw Materials and Energy

The orruary raw material used our operations i5 er-ous scrao Our

steel mill located close to rumerous sources of high densitx automobile
industrial and railroad ferrous scrao Currently all of these sources are

readily available and we believe they will continue to be avalable ror the
foreseeable future We believe we are one of the largest recyclers of ferrous

scrap in Illinois The purchase of ferrous scrap is highly competitive and
its price volatility is influenced by periodc shortages export activity
freight costs weather and other conditions beyond our control The cost of
ferrous scrap can fluctuate significantly and produc selling prices cannot

always be adjusted especially in the short term to recover the costs of
increases in ferrous scrap prices We have not entered into any hedging

programs or long term contracts for the purchase or supply of ferrous scrap
therefore we are subject to the price fluctuation of ferrous scrap

Our manufacturing processes consume large amounts of energy in the form
of electricity and natural gas Electricity in Illinois is not regulated
FEW and Calumet have energy service agreements whereby on daily basis for

electricity and on monthly basis for natural gas we are required to notify
the utility providers of the amount of energy we expect to consume on the next

day or over the next month respectively The price we pay for energy is

determined when we provide notification based on the forecasted hourly energy



market rate for the next day or the next month for electricity and gas
respectively All other tariff transmission and utility charges are passed

through at cost and the supplier adds per energy unit charge for

administration and margin Any difference between our forecasted consumption
and actual consumption is billed or credited to our account based on the

autudl huuily markut rate Huwevur to allow us to avoid pricing

fluctuations the contracts allow us at our discretion to purchase blocks of

energy for future usage at prices negotiated at the time of purchase We

could sell any unused quantities under such contracts at market rates such
that our only exposure on fixed price quantities is the difference between the

contracted price and the market price

The power supply at our KSW facility is interruptible and we agreed to

minimum interruption period of hours per occurrence and at least or more

interruption events during the summer season We would be compensated for

each interruption based on market rates and the difference between our

forecasted and actual consumption for the interrupton period We incurred no
such interruptions during 2008 2009 or 2010

Employment

As of December 31 2010 we employed 974 people as follows

at our corporate office

820 at 15W of which 672 are represented by the Independent Steel
Workers Alliance the ISWA under an agreement expiring in May
2012

76 at EWP of which 62 are represented by Local Union 40 an
Affiliate to the International Brotherhood of Teamsters
Chauffeurs Warehousemen and Helpers of America the AFL-CIO
under an agreement expiring in November 2011 and

72 at Calumet

We believe our 1acor relations are good

Products Markets and Distribution

The toliowing table sets forth certain information with respect to our

product mix in each of the last three years

Years Ended December 31
2008 2009 2010

Percent Percent Percent Percent Percent Percent

of Tons of of Tons of of Tons of

Product Shipped Sales Shipped Sales Shipped Sales

Wire rod 58.5% 48.8% 60.8% 46.0% 63.89s 52.6%

Fabricated wire products 14.7 21.3 15.6 28.2 12.2 20.8

Industrial w1re 10.4 1..l 8.2 9.6 8.8 10.7

Wire mesh 9.2 11.3 9.7 11.7 7.9 9.3

aar 3.1 3.0 3.2 3.3 4.0 4.8

Co1ed reher 2.5 1.2 1.0

Other 1.5 1.2 1.3 0.4 2.1 0.8

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Wire Rod We produce primarily low carbon wire rod and some higher
carbon wire rod at KSWs rod mill Low carbon wire rod with carbon content of

up to 0.38% is more easily shaped and formed than higher carbon wire rod and
is suitable for variety of applications where ease of forming/manipulation is

consideration while higher carbon steel is stronger Our higher carbon wire

rod business represented 10% of wire rod production during 2010 and we expect



it to grow dur1ng 2011 in order to meet the developing U.S demand ror high
carbon steel During 2010 we used approximately 32% of the wire rod we

manufactured to produce our industrial wire wire mesh and fabricated wire

products The remainder of our wire rod production was sold directly to

producers of construction products fabricated wire products and industrial

wire inoludirg productb siiLtilar to those we manufacture

Fabricated Wire Products 15W is one or the leading U.S manufacturers
of agricultural fencing barbed wire stockade panels and variety of woven

wire fabric and netting for agricultural and industrial applications We sell
these products to agricultural industrial consumer do-it-yourself and other
end-user markets which we believe are less cyclical than many steel consuming
end-use markets such as the automotive construction appliance and machinery
manufacturing industries We serve these markets through distributors
agricultural retailers building supply centers and consumer do it-yourself
chains such as Tractor Supply Co and Lowes Companies Inc We believe our
ability to service these customers with wide range of fabricated wire

products through multiple distribution locations provides competitive

advantage in accessing these growing and less cyclical markets As part of our

marketing strategy we provide category management recommendations based on
data collection and analysis tool we created and we design merchandise

packaging and supportive product literature for marketing many of these

products to the retail consumer market

KSW also manufactures products for residential and commercial

construction including rebar ty wire and stucco netting The primary
customers for these products are construction contractors and building
materials manufacturers and distributors

We believe our fabricated wire products are less susceptible to selling

price changes caused by the cyclical nature of the steel business than
industral wire coiled rebar or wire rod because the commodity priced raw
materials used ir these products such as _errous scrap represent lower

nercentage of the total ost or these va1ue added products

Industrial Wire 15W is oe of the largest maruracturers of industrial
wire in the United Sta es We produce custom drawn industrial wire in

variety of gauges rinishes and packages for rurther consumption by our
fabricated wire oroducts operations or for sale direct to industrial
fabrication and orginal equipment manufacturer customers who are generally
riot our compeicors our iridusurial w1re is useu by cusuomers in rhe

production or broad ranoe of rHnished goods including nai1s coat hangers
barbecue gril air conditioners tools containers refrigerators and other

appliances

Wire mesh EWP manufactures wide variety of wire mesh rolls and

sheets used to form wire reinforcement in concrete construction projects such

as pipe precast boxes and other applications including use in roadways
buildings and bridges Our wire mesh customers include pipe manufacturers
culvert manufacturers rebar fabricators and steel reinforcing distributors
Like our fabricated wire products we believe our wire mesh products are also
less susceptible to selling price changes caused by the cyclical nature of the

steel business than industrial wire coiled rebar or wire rod because the

commodity priced raw materials used in these products such as ferrous scrap
represent lower percentage of the total cost of such value-added products
when compared to wire rod or other less value added products

Bar Calumet manufactures merchant and special bar quality products and

special sections in carbon and alloy steel grades offering broad range of

value added products for use in agricultural cold drawn construction
industrial chain service centers and transportation applications as well as
in the production of wide variety of products by original equipment



manufacturers Calumets product line consists orimar1ly of angles flats

channels rourds squares and other related products

Coiled Rater We produce several sizes of coiled rebar at KSWs rod

mill The coils are tyoically used by fabricators who will process the

materia as straigfiteneO and cuc to length oars or rabricated shapes ror

specific reinforcement apolcations such as building and road construction

Trademarks

Many of our fencing and related fabricated wire products are marketed

under our RedBrand label widely recognized brand name in the agricultural

fencing and construction marketplaces for more than 85 years RedBrand sales

represented approximately 77% of our fabricated wire products net sales in

2010 We also maintain other trademarks for various products that are

promoted in their resoective markets

Cuscomers

Our customers are primarily located in the Midwestern Southwestern and

Southeastern regions of the United States Our customers vary considerably by

product We heieve our ability to offer broad range of products represents
competitive advantage in servicing the diverse needs of our customers

Our segments are not dependent upon single customer or few

customers and the loss of any one or few would not have matrial
adverse effect on our business The percentage of external sales related to

our segmencs ten largest customers and the customers at each of our

sagmarts that accuunted fr muie han 10% uL that sagmerts axtarral sales

during 2010 one customer at KSvJ and two customers at EWPis set forth in the

following table

KSW EWP Calumet

Ten largest customers

segments sales 62- 50%
of consoiidaed saies 53% 5% 3%

Customers 10%
of segments sa es 12 24

co solidated sa1es 06

Seasonality

Historically we have experienced greater sales and profts during the

second and third quarters or each year due to the seasonality or sales in

principal fabricated wire products and wire mesh markets including the

agricultural and construction markets

Backlog

Our backluo of unfillad cancalabla 5taa.i pLoducts purchasa orders

approximated $25.9 million and $62.3 million at Oecember 31 2009 and 2010
respectively We do not believe backlog is significant ractor in our

business and we expect all of the backlog at Oecember 31 2010 will be

shipped during 2011



Industry and Competition

The fabricated wire uroducts wire mesh industrial wire bar coiled
rebar and wire rod businesses in the United States are highly competitive and

are comprised primarily of several large mini-mill wire rod producers many
small independent wire companies and few large diversified wire producers
We also face signifcant foreign competition Lower wage rates less

regulatory requirements and foreign cost discrepancies sometimes result in

market prices that significantly reduce or even elimnate the profitability or

certain products

We believe we are well positioned to compete effectively due to
the breadth of our fabricated wire products wire mesh industrial

wire and bar offerings

our ability to service diverse geographic and product markets

the relatively low cost of our internal supply of billet and wire

rod and

our reputation for superior product quality

We believe our facilities are well located to serve the Midwestern
Southwestern and Southeastern regions of the United States Close proximity
to our customer base provides us with certain advantages over foreign and
certain domestic competition including reduced shipping costs improved
customer service and shortened delivery times

Wire Rod Since wire rod is commodity steel product we believe the

wire rod market is more competitive than the fabricated wre products and
indubtrdl wire ludrkets and price ic he piinay compeltive factut Among
our orincipal domes Ic comoetitors in these markets are Cerbau Axneristeel and

Rocky MountaIn Steel We so race signiricant foreign competition The

domestic stee industry ontinues to exuerience cosolidatIon Curng the last
ten years at and the najonity or naor domestc comoetitons kiev titter
iled nor protectIon under Feceral ncruJtct 1aws ano d4scontinued ocerations

were acouieb or rtduced or como1e ey snu down ooera ions Ye belie these
shut downs or oroduction cc nailments represeuL sigrli an dcci ease in

estirrateo oomestic annual capacty Howe er wor owioe oiiercaoacty in the
sLed industry conttues exist and imports of wire od tave oecortlt much more
substantial in rece years and increased sgnificantly iron 2009 to 2010

Fabiicated Wire Products and industrial W1re Cur principal comoetlors
in the rabricated wire products and industrial wire markets are Leggett
Platt Ceacero Cklahoma Steel end Wire and Cavis Wire Competition in the

fabricated wire products and industrial wire markets is based on ariety of

factors including distributior channels price delivery performance product

quality service and brand name preference Cur RedSrand label has been

widely recognized brand name in the agricultural fencing and construction

marketplaces ror more than 85 years Additionally we believe higher

transportation costs and the lack of local distribution centers tend to limit

roregn producers penetration into our principal fabricated wire products and

industrial wire markets but we do not know if this will continue to be the
case

Wire mesh Cur principal competitor in our wire mesh markets is Insteel
Wire Products We also race competition from smaller regional manufacturers

and wholesalers or wire mesh products We believe SWPs superior oroducts and
renowned customer service distinguish SWP from its comoetitors In addition
we believe our vertical integration enhances SWPs ability to compete more
effectively in the market as SWP can rely on more stable supply or wire rod
Competitors of SWP have at times faced raw material shortages that have

negatively impacted their daily production capability and delivery
reliability



Bar Our principal competitors in our bar business include Cerdau

Ameristeel Nucor Corporation and Alton Steel The primary competitive factors

are delivered price and the breadth of product within the production
capability of the mill Calumet frequently conducts trials for ditferent

customer-specific products which usually results in new customers and

increased sales volume Calumets mill location in Chicago Heights Illinois

is well suited to serve the bar market in the upper Midwest

Coiled Rebar The principal competitors for our assortment of coiled
rebar products include Oerdau Ameristeel Rocky Mountain Steel and Mucor

Connecticut The primary competitive factors of the coiled rebar business are

delivered price coil size and product quality Oue to our location we
believe we can effectively serve customers in the Midwestern region of the

United States

Environmental Mattets

Our production facilities are affected by variety of environmental

laws and regulations including laws governing the discharge of water

pollutants and air contaminants the generation containment transportation
storage treatment and disposal of solid wastes and hazardous substances and
the handling of toxic substances including certain substances used in or

generated by our manufacturing operations Many of these laws and

regulations require permits to operate the tacilities to which they pertain
Denial revocation suspension delay in modification or expiration of such

permits could impair the ability of the affected facility to continue

operations

We record liabilities related to environmental issues when information

becomes available and is sufficient to support reasonable estimate ot

range of probable loss If we are unable to determine that sinole amount in

an estmated range is more like the minimum amount the range is

recorded At December 31 2010 the uneer end ot the range of reasonably
oossible costs to us for sites where we have been named derendant

approximately $2.1 milLion includirg our recorded accrual of $.7 milLon

We believe our current operating tacil ties are In material compliance
witn all presently applicable federal state and local laws reculating the
discharce of materials into the environment or otherwise relatino to the

protection of the environment Environmental legislation and regulations
change rapidly and we may be subject to increasingly stringent environmental

standards in the future

Information in Mote to our Consolidated Financial Statements is

incorporated herein by reference

Financing and Other Activities

We routinely compare our liquidity requirements against our estimated

future cash flows As result of this process we have in the past and may
in the suture seek to raise additional capital refinance or restructure

indebtedness consider the sale of interests in subsidiaries business units

or other assets or take combination of such steps or other steps to

increase liquidity reduce indebtedness and fund future activities Such

activities have in the past and may in the future involve related companies
From time to time we and related entities also evaluate the restructuring of

ownership interests among our subsidiaries and related companies and expect to

continue this activity in the future and may in connection with such

activities consider issuing additional equity securities and increasing our
indebtedness
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On August 31 2005 we emerged from Chapter 11 proceedings that began in

2004 During 2007 the final pending claims of our bankruptcy were settled or

fully adjudicated However at that time an amendment to one of our

postretirement benefit plans was in negotiation Upon finalization of that

amendment in 2008 we sought final closure of our bankruptcy case and on

September 11 2008 the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern

District of Wisconsin issued our final decree

Availability of Company Reports Filed with the SEC

Our fiscal year is 52 or 53 weeks and ends on the Sunday closest to

December 31 of each year We furnish our stockholders with annual reports

containing audited financial statements In addition we file annual
quarterly and current reports proxy and information statements and other

information with the SEC We also make our annual report on Form 10-K
quarterly reports on Form lO-Q current rports on Form cnd amendments

thereto available free of charge through our website at

www.keystoneconsolidated.com as soon as reasonably practical after they have

been filed with the SEC We also provide to anyone without charge copies of

such documents upon written request Requests should be directed to the

attention of the Corporate Secretary at our address on the cover page of this
Form 10-K

The general public may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC

at the SECs Public Reference Room at 100 Street NE Washington DC
20549 The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public

Reference Room by calling the SEC at l-800-SEC-0330 We are an electronic
tiler The SEC maintains an Internet website at www.sec.gov that contains

reports proxy and information statements and other information regarding
issuers that file electronically with the SEC including us

ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

LLsted below are certair risk factors associated with our businesses
In addition to the ootential effect or these risk factors discussed below any
risk factor which could result in reduced earnings or ooerating losses or

reduced liquidity which cou in turn adversely affect our ability to service
our liabiities or adversely affect the quoted market prices for our pub icly
traded securities

Our leverage may impair our financial condition or limit our ability to

operate our businesses

We fund our operations primarily through cash from operations and

borrowings on our revolving credit facility Our revolving credit facility

requires us to use our daily cash receipts to reduce outstanding borrowings
which results in us maintaining zero cash balances when there are balances

outstanding under the credit facility The amount of available borrowings
under our revolving credit facility is based on formula-determined amounts of

trade receivables and inventories

Our revolving credit facility requires us to maintain minimum fixed

charge coverage ratio as defined in the agreement of 1.0 if excess

availability falls below $10.0 million At December 31 2010 excess

availability was $38.8 million Current forecasts indicate that we will be
able to maintain excess availability of at least $10.0 million throughout 2011

However if future operating results differ materially from our predictions and

excess availability falls below $10.0 million we could violate our fixed

charge coverage ratio requirement if the fixed charge coverage ratio at such

time is less than 1.0 The credit facility is collateralized by substantially
all of our operating assets and failure to comply with the covenants contained
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in the credit faci ity could result Ic the acceleration of the outstanding

balance under the facility prior to its stated maturity date Additionally
our lender can restrict our ability to incur additiona secured ndabtadneso

and can declare default under the credit raciity in the event or among
other things material adverse change in our business In the event of an

uncured default of our credit facility agreement we would seek to refinance

the raci ity with new groun of lenders or if required we will use other

existing liquidity resources which could include funds provided by our

affiliates However there is no assurance that such rinancing could be

obtained or if obtained that it would not be on terms that would result in

higher costs to us such as higher interest rate on outstanding borrowings
If we were unable to obtain such iinancing our liquidity could be negatively
afrected

Our dependence on borrowing availability from our revolving credit

facility could have important consequences to our stockholders and creditors

including

making it more difficult ror us to satisfy our ob igations with

respect to our liabilities

increasing our vulnerability to adverse general economic and industry
conditions

requiring portion of our cash flow from operations be used for the

payment of interest on our debt therefore reducing our ability to use

our cash now to fund working capital capital expenditures
acquisitions and general corporate requirements

limiting our ability to obtain additional financing to fund future

working capital capital expenditures acquisitions and general
corporrte raauireraents

lmiting our flexibility in ulanning for or reacting to changes in

ow busnress regulatory reourements and the industry in which we

one ate -n
nanng us at onrottJc Tadnantcoa ra ative to other ass
leveraged omnaL tors

Demand for and prices cf certain cf our products are cyclical and we are

currently operating in depressed market conditions which may result in

reduced earnings or operating losses

sinIican pa 1a at canucc arc aH ibub ta 5la5
products into the aglicu turd ado construc industres flase two
industries themsal as are cyclical and changes ir those industries tconomic

conditions can significantly impact our earnings and operating cash flows We
believe these industries ware at the lowast point of thair businass cycle

during 2009 and began modast recovery during 2010 However we are unabla
to predict with high degree of certainty when demand will return to the
levels experienced prior to the fourth quartar of 2008 Our oparating results

and our business and financial condition could ba advarsaly affacted by among
othar things economic conditions availability of credit to fund agricultural
and construction urojacts short and long-term weather patterns interest

rates and embargos placed by foraign countries on U.S agricultural products

We sell the majority of our products in mature and highly competitive

industries and face price pressures in the markets in which we operate which

may result in reduced earnings or operating losses

The markets in which we operate our businesses ara hghly competitive
Competition is based on number of factors such as price product quality
dalivary timas and sarvica Some of our competitors may be able to drive down

prices for our products because tha competitors costs are lowar than our
costs In addition some of our compatitors financial technological and
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other resources may be greater than our resources and such competitors may be

better able to withstand negative changes in market conditions Our

competitors may ho able to respond more quickly than we can to new or emergng
technologies and changes in customer requirements Further consolidation of

our competitors or customers in any of the industries in which we compete may
result in reduced demand tor our produc Additionally in some or our

businesses new comoetitors could emeroe by modifying their existing production
facilities so they could manufacture products chat compete with our products
The occurrence of any of these events could result in reduced earnings or

operating losses

Many of EWPs products are ultimately used in infrastructure projects by
local state or federal governments

Such projects are impacted by the availability of governmental funding
for such projects decline the availability of governmental funds for
such projects could utimately result in decline fn demand or selling prices
of EWPs products Such decline could result in reduced earnings or

operating losses

Wire rod continues to be imported into the U.S Global producers of wire rod

are able to import their products into the U.S with minimal tariffs and

duties

Many of these global wire rod producers are able to produce wire rod at
costs lower than we incur in our production Ps such these wire rod imports
are often able to be priced at lower levels than similar products manufactured
by us In addition we believe certain foreign governments subsidize their

local wire rod producers These events can adversely mpact our shipment
levels and pr-icing decisions and as such could result in reduced earnings or

onerating losses

Higher costs or limited availability of ferrous scrap may decrease our

liquidity

The cost of ferrous scrao our or naiy raw nateria_ can luctuate

significantly and our oroduct sciling prices cannot always be adjusted
especial in tte shirt term to rcover tte osts of increases in Thrrous

scrap prices Additionally sLold our oca ferrous scrau suopliers not be
able to rreet thhir ontractua obiicatios we may incur hioher costs ror
rerrous scrap

Climate change legislation could negatively impact our financial results or

limit our ability to operate our businesses

We believe all of our production facilities are in substantial

compliance with applicable environmental laws Proposed legislation is being
considered to limit green house gases through various means including
emissions permits and/or energy taxes Our production facilities consume

large amounts of energy including electricity and natura1 gas To date the

permit system in effect has not had material adverse effect on our financial
results However future green house gas legislation could negatively impact
our future results from operations through increased costs of production
particularly as it relates to our energy reguirements If such increased costs
of production were to materialize we may be unable to pass price increases on
to our customers to compensate or increased production costs which may
decrease our liquidity operating income and results of operations
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ITEM 13 UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM PROPERTIES

Our principal executive offices are located in leased space at 5430 LBJ

Freeway Suite 1740 Dallas Texas 75240-2697

Our production facilities utilize approximately 2.3 million square feet

for manufacturing approximately 85% of which is located at our Peoria
Illinois facility

The following table sets forth the location size and general product

types produced for each of our manufacturing facilities as of December 31
2010 all of which are owned by us

ipproximate

Size Primary Products Produced for

Facility Nane Location Square Feet acternal Sales

Keystone Steel Wire Peoria IL 1951000 Fabricated wire products
industrial wire and wire rod

igioeered Wire Products Upper Sendusky OH 126000 Wire mesh

Keystone-calumet chicago Heights IL 216000 Steel bar

2293000

We believe all of our facilities are adequately maintained and are

satisfactory zor their intended purposes

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are also involved in various legal proceedirgs Information required
by this Item is included in Notes and to our Consolidated Financial

Statements which information is incorporated herein by rererence

ITEM RESERVED
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PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

Our common stock trades on the OTT Bulletin Board Symbol ICON

At Oecember 31 2010 Contran owned approximately 62% of our outstanding

common stock In March 2011 Contran completed tender offer in which it

purchased 1.6 million shares of our common stock Following completion of
such purchase under the tender offer Contran owns approximately 75% of our

outstanding shares

As of March 10 2011 we had approximately 1178 holders of record of

our common stock at closing pr1ce of $6.35 The following table sets forth
the hiqh and low closing per share sales prices for our common stock for the

periods indicated

High Low

Year ended December 31 2009

First quarter 6.25 2.80
Second quarter 3.32 2.25
Third guarter 4.11 2.70
Fourth quarter 5.05 3.50

Yeer ended December 31 2010

First quarter 5.50 4.00
Second cuarter 5.97 4.65
Third quarter 6.05 4.55
nouri- quarter 5.75 a.55

F1rsc guarter 2011 through Ttarch 10 2011 6.55 4.70

Historically we have not paid cash dividends on our common stock as we
have chosen to retain all earnings to fund working capital requirements
capital exoendicures and scheduled debt reoayments
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Performance Graph Sec forth below is line granh comparing the change
in our cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock against the

cumulative total return of the SP 500 Index and the SP 500 Steel Index ror

the period rrom June 23 2006 the first date on which our common stock began

public trading followirg our emergence from Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection

through December 31 2010 The graph stows the value at December 31 ot each

year assuming an original 1nvestment of $100 at June 23 2006

June 23 December 31
2006 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

gt Keystone Consolidated Industries Inc s-SP 500 Index SP 500 Steel Index

Keystone common stock $100 $750 $725 $300 $200 $228

SP 500 Index 100 115 121 76 87 111

5P 500 steel Index 100 117 142 69 88 101

Comparison of Cumulative Total Return

$800

$700

$600

$500

$400

$300

$200

$100

$0

6/23/06 12/31/06 12/31/07 12/31/08 12/31/09 12/31/10
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ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

fle rolinwing selected consolidated financial data should be read in

000junccion with our Consolidated Financial Statements and Item

Managements Discussion and Analysis Dc Financial Condition And Results Df

Dperations

Years ended December 31
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

In thousands except per share and per ton amounts
Statement of Operatiors Daa

Net sales $d4050 $dsll78 $562693 $322347 $450745
Operating income 79750 97972 110493 3209 1662
Defined benefit oenson credit

expense 55978 804d3 73923 5887 4654
ODES credit 8297 8526 847 4748 5258
Operating income berore pcnslon and

OPED 15475 9003 28096 438 6550
Gain on cancellation or dcbb lO07d
Gain on legal settlement 500
Provson ror incora texas 17055 37ol9 400l 2292 6493
Net incoire i.51j17 $$7.5 E6 114 2L11 87

Dasc end diluted ircome per shcre S_...Ail 5.48 A...5./3 0.77

Dasic and dlutcd weighted average
shares outstanding 10000 10000 11 33 12 102

Otner Operating Data
7hpments 1000 tons

Wire rod 34 t3 27 381
abr cacao wrc proous 112 03 cc 73
nduscr ra cc 61 3i 52

Virs osh 01

Bar 21
oj.ec radar

Other
_____ ______

Total 51 SIc -2 SOc

ar sailo pr
Wirc rod 00 58 7P 7s 518

FabrLcated proiucts 1037 108 1380 373 27
Irdusr wn.e 7Th 7o3 87 Jlj

VI ra cacl 51 23 15 035

Oar 6c3

Coiler redo 55o 81 s10 c2
All products tote 615 c9O 90j 750 74

Averaoe per ton rarrous scrap cost

or goods sold 210 235 308 252 _91

Increase dccraase LIO reserve
and cosc or goods sold 3367 57Th 10142 $115200 523

Other Fnancial Data
cao cal axpan4turas 15739 1602 3_95 9000 l37
Jeoraciation ard amorc zaton 15222 lSe13d 25lo1 554 12362
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On March 2d 2008 we ssued 2.5 million shares of our common stock and
received net oroceeds of $24.7 mllion pursuant to subscription
rlohts offering

We use the last in first out LIFO method
the majority of our productive inventories
are reflected In cost of goods sold

to determIne the cost ot

Changes In LIFO reserves

2006

As of December 31
2007 2008

In thousands

2009 2010

31776 20630 55986 19063 55095

88695 92469 89987 85169 88009
763936 763023 249733 265084 35727
75419 91577 31o30 25370 28681

403662 40469 119644 157779 191736

Balance Sheet Deta
Workinq capital

Property plant and equipment
net

Total assets
Total debt

Stockholders equity

Because pension and other postretirement benefit OPEB expense or
credits are unrelated to the operating activities of our businesses we
measure and evaluate the performance of our businesses using operating
income before pension and OPEB credit or expense As such we believe

the presentation of operating income before pension and OPEB credit or

expense provides more useful information to investors Operating
income before pension and OPEB credit or expense is non CAP measure
of profitability that is not in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America ChAP and it

should not be considered in isolation or as substitute for measure

prepared in accordance with OAAP reconciliation of operating income

as reported to operating income adjusted for pension and OPEB expense
or credit is set forth in the following table

Years ended December 31
2007 2008

In thousands

2006 2009

Oper tinp income as reported $79750 $97972 $110d93 $3209 $16462
Defined benefit oenson exoense

credi 55978 99d13 73923 5887 4654
OPEB credit 8297 8526 847 748 5258

Operatnp moon before oension/OED 91LJ125 9003 8096 ff358 655g

2010
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ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Business Overview

Recent Developments

Due to competitive pressures we experienced significant margin

compression during 2010 as we were not able to implement selling price
increases sufficient to entirely recover increases in operating costs We

implemented selling price increases on selected products in December 2010 and

throughout the first quarter of 2011 as ferrous scrap market prices continued
to escalate We currently believe we will be able to maintain positive overall

margins on our products throughout 201l However we do not know when or if

market conditions will allow us to raise selling prices sufficient enough to
increase profitability to historical levels

Customer orders were strong at the end of 2010 and based on current

expectations that the economy will continue to recover at modest pace we
believe 2011 shipment volumes will approximate 2010 shipment volumes

Results of Operations

Our profitability is primarily dependent on sales volume per ton selling
prices and per ton ferrous scrap and energy costs

Operating income before pension and OPEB for 2010 was slightly higher
than 2009 primarily due to the net effects of the following factors

increased selling prces for wire rod industrial wire bar and coiled

rebar

lower sellino prices for fabricated wire products and mesh as

competitive conditions in those markets resulted in an inability to

raise selling prices

increased sales volume during 2010 as economic conditions during the

first half of 2009 resulted 1n sharp reduction of customer orders

higher production levels during the first halt of 2010 as we operated
our tacilities on substantially reduced production schedules during
the first half of 2009 given the sharp reduction in demand which
resulted in much higher percentage of fixed costs being included in

cost of goods sold during 2009 as these costs could not be capitalized
into inventory fixed costs as percentage of sales were 6.1% during
2010 as compared to 8.2% during 2009
increased electricity costs at our largest manufacturing zacility

during 2010

increased maintenance costs during 2010 due to increased production
decreases in our LIFO reserve and cost of goods sold during 2009 of

$15.2 million as compared to $5.4 million increase in our LIFO

reserve and cost of goods sold during 2ulu as discussed in Noce to

our Consolidated Financial Statements

impairment charges of $2.8 million to reduce certain inventories to

net realizable value during 2009 compared to nominal similar charges
during 2010

bad debt expense of $2.9 million during 2009 primarily due to the

Chapter 11 proceedings of one of our customers compared to nominal
similar amounts during 2010

higher incentive compensation expense during 2010 due to increased

profitability and
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$4.2 million credit to general and administrative expense during

2009 related to the release of accrued environmental costs for certain

inactive waste management urits

Operating income berore pension aod OPEB for 2009 was significantly

worse than 2008 primarily due to the net effects of the following factors

lower shipmant voJumes due to the economic conditions of 2009

lower selling prices during 2009

reduced production volumes during 2009 as discussed above which

resulted in higher percentage of zixed costs included in cost of

goods sold fixed costs as percentage of sales were 8.2% during
2009 as compared to 5.8% during 2008
increased variable costs of production during 2009 due to frequent mill

changes as customers began to manage their inventory by ordering much

smaller quantities of our many ditferent products

increased variable costs of production as idle production facilities

were difficult to re start given cold winter temperatures during the

first quarter of 2009

decreased cost of ferrous scrap during 2009

decreased cost or electricity and natural gas during 2009

decreases in our LIFO reserve and cost of goods sold during 2009 of

$15.2 million as compared to $10.1 million increase in our LIFO
reserve and cost of goods sold during 2008 as discussed in Note to

our Consolidated Financial Statements

decreased workers compensation expense during 2009

$2.8 muon impairment charge to reduce certain inventories to net
reaizable value durino 2009 as compared to $1.2 million impairment

charge durino 2008

bad deb- expense durnc 2009 $2.9 urio prlrrarily due to the

Chapter 11 proceedings of one of our custoners compared to nominal
similar amounts during 2008

decreasen emp.oyee nentive corrnansaLoi ccrua1s during 2009

resulting from ower proiitabiiity and

$4.2 million credit to general and admbristratvt experse during 2003

relatod to the re cast oL accrued envronmertal costs as discussen
above

Segment Operating Results

Our operating segments are organized by our manufacturing facilities and

include three reportable segments

KSW located in Peoria Illinois operates an electric arc furnace

mini-mill rod mill industrial wire mill and wire product fabrication
facilities and manuzactures and sells wire rod industrial wire coiled

rebar fabricated wire and other products to agricultural industrial
construction commercial original equipment manufacturers and retail
consumer markets

EWP located in Upper Sandusky Ohio manufactures and sells wire mesh
in both roll and sheet form that is utilized as reinforcement in

concrete construction produccs including pipe pre cast boxes and

applications for use in roadways buildings and bridges and



Calumet located in Chicago Heights Illinois manufactures and sells

merchant and special bar quality products and special sections in

carbon and alloy steel grades for use in agricultural cold drawn
construction industrial chain service centers and transportation

applications as well as in the nroduction of wide variety of

products by original equipment manufacturers

Calumets primary raw material is billet and EWSs primary raw material

is wire rod Both Calumet and EWP source the majority of their primary raw
material requirements from 15W

Our consolidated net sales cost of goods sold operating costs and

operating performance before pension and 0955 by segment are set forth in the

following table

Selling and
administrative expense

Operating income loss
before pension/ORES

15156 3419

32174 5338

113 ________

$j929 6487 SM
or the year endeD 0cc mber ill 2009

Se1 ling and

administraciv expense _________
Operating income ioss

before pension/OPEB ________

For the year ended December 31 2010

Selling and

administrative expense _________
Operating income loss

before pension/OPEB ________

2418 862 3420 20854

Other items primarily consist of the elimination of intercompany
sales the elimination of intercompany profit or loss on ending inventory
balances and general corporate expenses

KSW

For the year ended December 31 2008

Caltunet Other1

In thousands

Net sales

Cost of goods sold

Gross margin loss

EWP

$63433
54 676

757

$542106
494 776

47330

$17165
18 981
1816

Total

$562 693

511 197
51496

60011
57236
2775

Sec sa_es
Cost of goods sold

Gross margin loss

3712 23400

$298219
279 380

18839

12 863

597_

$ii i27

14 350

323
24 574
27 515

941

$322347

299 787
22 560

$37575
33 572

003

598

$L 405

$41 310

40 170
1140

Net sales

Cost of goods sold

Gross margin

480 2271 18212

$3703 4348

$433729
408971

24758

14154

$22987
22 028

959

47 281
47828

547

$450745
423341

27404

$10604 $l278 97 2873 6550
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Keystone Steel Wire

%of %of %of
2008 sales 2009 sales 2010 sales

in thousands

Net sales $542106 100.0% $298219 100.0% $433729 100.0%

Cost of goods sold 494776 91.3 279380 93.7 408971 94.3
Gross margin 47330 8.7 18839 6.3 24758 5.7

Selling and administrative 15156 2.8 12863 4.3 14154 3.3
Operating income before

pension/OPEB 32174 5.9% 5976 2.0% 10604 2.4%

The primary drivers of sales cost of goods sold and the resulting gross
margin are as follows

2008 2009 2010

Sales volume000 tons

Wire rod 398 291 429

Fabricated wire products 86 66 73

Industrial wire 61 34 52

Billet 35 16 45

Coiled rebar 15

Total 595

Per ton selling orices

Wire rod 797 575 620

Fabricated wire products 1380 1373 1277
Industrial wire 1103 897 915

Billet 657 366 452

Coiled rebar 841 540 622

All products 90b 72u 712

Average per-ton ferrous scrap cost
of goods sold 368 262 294

Increase decrease in LIFO reserve
and cost of goods sold 6588 9125 4506

Average electricity cost per
kilowatt hour 0.05 0.03 0.04

Kilowatt hours consumed 000 hours 485446 341392 478641

Average natural gas cost per therm 0.95 0.50 0.50

Natural gas therms consumed 000
therms 19380 14115 18134
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KSWs operating income before pension and OPEB for 2010 as compared to

2009 was also impacted by the following

higher production levels during the first half of 2010 as 19W operated

on substantially reduced production schedules during the first half of

2009 given the sharp reduction in demand caused by economic

conditions which resulted in higher percentage of fixed costs being

included in cost of goods sold during 2009 as these costs could not be

capitalized into inventory fixed costs as percentage of sales were

6.3% during 2010 compared to 8.7% during 2009
increased maintenance costs during 2010 due to increased production

bad debt expense of $2.9 million during 2009 primarily due to the

Chapter 11 proceedings of one of KSWs customers compared to nominal

similar amounts during 2010

higher incentive compensation expense during 2010 due to increased

profitability and

$4.2 million credit during 2009 related to the release of accrued
environmental costs as discussed above

KSWs operating income before pension and OPEB for 2009 as compared to

2008 was also impacted by the following

substantially reduced production volumes during the first half of

2009 as discussed above which resulted in higher percentage of

fixed costs included in cost of goods sold fixed costs as

percentage of sales were 8.7% during 2009 as compared to 6.2% during
2008

increased variable costs of production during 2009 due to frequent
mill changes as customers began managing their inventory by ordering
much smaller guantities of KSWs many different product lines

increased variable costs of production as idle production facilities

were difrcult to re start given cold winter temperatures during the
first ouater of 2009

decreased workers compensation expense during 2009

bad debt expense of $2.9 m11ion during 2009 primarily due to the

Chapter 11 proceedrgs one of KSWs customers as compared to
nominal sirrilar amourts during 2008

decreased employee incentive compensation accruals during 2009 due to

lower profitability and

the $4.2 million credit related to the release of accrued

environmental costs during 2009 as d1scussed above
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Engineered Wire Products Inc

kof kof kof
2008 sales 2009 sales 2010 sales

in thousands

Net sales 63433 100.0% 37575 100.0% 41310 100.096

Cost of goods sold 54676 66.2 33572 89.4 40170 97.2
Gross margio 8757 13.8 4003 10.6 1140 2.8

selling and administrative 3419 5.4 2598 6.9 2418 5.9
Operating income loss

before pension/OPEB 5338 8.4% laOS 3.7% 11iij 3.196

The primary drivers of sales cost of goods sold and the resulting gross
margin are as follows

2008 2009 2010

Sales volume 000 tons- Wire mesh 54 41 47

Per-ton selling prices Wire mesh $1168 916 $878

Average per-ton wire rod cost of goods sold 713 710 $634

Increase decrease in LIFO reserve and cost
of goods sold $3554 $6075 $917

The wire rod market increased to unprecedented price levels during the
second and third Guarters of 2008 and due to low shipment volumes during the
fourth quarter of 2008 and the first quarter of 2009 the average per ton wire
rod costs included in the products EWP sold during 2009 or $710 was not
consistent with KSWs 2009 average per ton wire rod selling prce of $575

EWPs operating performance during 2009 as compared to 2008 was also
impacted by the following

significantly higher percentage or fixed costs included in cost of

goods sold during the first quarter of 2009 due to substantially
reduced production volumes as discussed above fixed costs as

percentage of sales were 4.9% during 2009 as comnared to 3.1% during
2008

increased variable costs of production during 2009 due to frequent
mill changes as customers began managing their inventory by ordering
much smaller quantities of EWPs different products and

decreased employee incentive compensation accruals during 2009 as

discussed above
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Keystone-Calumet Inc

%of %of sof
2008 sales 2009 sales 2010 sales

in thousands

Net sales $17165 100.0% $11127 100.0% $22987 100.0%

Cost of goods sold 18981 110.6 14350 129.0 22028 95.8
Gross margin loss 1816 10.6 3223 29.0 959 4.2

selliog aod administrative 1113 6.5 480 4.3 862 3.8
Operating income loss

before pension/OPEB $2929 flflfi% $3703 33.3% 97 0.4%

The primary drivers of sales Cost of goods sold and the resulting gross
margin are as follows

2008 2009 2010

Sales volume000 tons- Bar 18 13 24

Per-ton selling prices Bar $946 0782 $888

Average per-ton billet cost of goods sold $549 $447 $507

Throughout 2009 and 2010 Calumet has been conducting trials for many
new products In addition Calumet expanded its sales force during 2010
Both of these developments are contributing to new customers and increased
sales volume We believe increased sales volume will allow Calumet to operate
on 24-hour basis and thereby achieve certain economies of scale which are
key to this segments pro itability Calumet was able to occasionally operate
on 24-hour basis during ti-a fourth quarter of 2010 and currently expects to

begin doing so on continual basis during the first quarter of 2011

Substantially reduced production volumes during the first half of 2009

resulted in much higher percentage of fixed costs included in cost or goods
sold during 2009 as compared to 2008 and 2010 fixed costs as percentage of

sales were 8.0% during 2009 as compared to 4.2% during 2008 and 4.3% during
2010

During the fourth quarter of 2008 and throughout 2009 Calumet
determined it would not be able to recover the cost of certain inventory items

in future selling prices and recognized impairment charges of $1.2 million and

$2.8 million respectively to reduce the inventory to its net realizable

value Nominal impairment charges were incurred during 2010 These

impairment charges are included in cost of goods sold

The higher selling and administrative expenses during 2010 as compared
to 2009 were primarily due to the expansion of Calumets sales force and
increased incentive compensation accruals in 2010 as result of better

operating performance The lower selling and administrative expenses during
2009 as compared to 2008 were primarily due to severance expense and

relocation expenses incurred in 2008 that werent incurred in 2009 as well as
lower incentive compensation accruals in 2009
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Calumets operating performance during 2009 as compared to 2008 was also

impacted by the following

increased variable costs of production due to frequent mill changes

as customers began managing their inventory by ordering much smaller

quantities of Calumets many different product lines

increased variable costs of production as idle production facilities

were difficult to re-start given cold winter temperatures during the

first quarter of 2009 and

decreased cost of electricity and natural gas

Pension Credits and Expense

During 2008 and 2010 we recorded defined benefit pension credit of

$73.9 million and $4.7 million respectively During 2009 we recorded

defined benefit pension expense of $5.9 million The fluctuations in the

pension credit or expense were primarily the result of decrease in our

plans assets of $510 million during 20fl8 and an inrrease in our plans assets
of $58 million during 2009 These fluctuations in plan assets impact the

subsequent years defined benefit pension credit or expense by changing
the expected return on plan assets as the plan assets multiplied by the

assumed long-term rate of return is higher or lower than the prior year and

ii changing the amortization of unrealized net gains or losses as any
differences between the expected return on plan assets and the actual return

on plan assets are deferred and amortized into income over future periods

Dur plans assets increased by approximately $87 million during 2010 and

we currently expect to record defined benefit pension credit of $19.0
million during 2011 See Note to our Consolidated Financial Statements

OPEB Credits

We recorded an DPEB credit of $8.5 million during 2008 $4.7 million

during 2009 and $5.3 million during 2010 The decrease in the DPEB credit

during 2009 was primarily due to an amendment of one or our OPEB plans during
2008 which among other things significantly increased fixed monthly
benefits We currently expect to record $5.2 million OPEB credit during
2011 See Note to our Consolidated Financial Statements

Interest Expense

Interest expense during 2008 2009 and 2010 as well as the primary
drivers of interest expense are presented in the following table

2008 2009 2010

in thousands

Interest expense 3798 1725 1863

Average balance of total debt $68169 $35129 $36983

Average balance of revolver 35030 17889 28662

Weighted average interest rate 5.0% 4.1% 4.0%

The decrease in the average balance of our revolver during 2009 was

primarily due to substantially reduced production schedules throughout 2009

and an exceptionally low balance on our revolving credit facility at the end

of 2008 The increase in the average balance of our revolver during 2010 was

primarily due to increased production during 2010 the early extinguishment of

the remaining $5.1 million balance outstanding under our loan agreement with

the County of Peoria Illinois and the retirement of the remaining $2.5
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million balance of our term loan with Wells Fargo both of which were funded
with borrowings under our revolving credit facility

The decrease in the overall weighted average interest rate from 2008 to
2009 was primarily due to decreases in LIBOR and the prime rate as our primary
credit facility bears interest at certain margins over prime and LIBOR rates
In October 2009 and August 2010 these margins changed as result of

amendnents to our primary credit agreement The following table presents the

margins in effect over certain periods of time during the last three years

Margins on Margins on

prime LIBOR

January 2008 October 2009 0% to 0.5% 2% to 2.75%

October 2009 August 2010 1% or 1.25% 2.75% or 3%

August 2010 December 2010 0.25% to 0.5% 2% to 2.25%

Provision for Income Taxes

tabular reconciliation of the difference between the U.S Federal

statutory income tax rate and our effective income tax rates is included in
Note to our Consolidated Financial Statements

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Historical Cash Flows

Operating Activities

During 2010 net cash provided by operations totaled $11.9 million as

compared co net cash provided by operations of $13.3 million during 2009 The

$1.4 million decline in operating cash flows was primarily due to the net
effects of

higher operating income before pension/OPEB during 2010 of $2.2

million

lower net cash used as result of relative changes in our accounts
receivable in 2010 of tll.9 million primarily due to an abnormally
low accounts receivable balance at December 31 2008 as result of
customers limiting orders during the fourth quarter of 2008

higher net cash used by relative changes in our inventory of $31.4
million in 2010 primarily due to increased scrap costs and

substantially higher production levels during the first half of 2010

to meet increased demand as compared to extremely low production
levels during the first half of 2009 as result of rapid decline
in product demand production levels were relatively consistent
between the last half of 2010 and last half of 2009
higher net cash provided by relative changes in our accounts payable
of $3.3 million in 2010 primarily due to increased costs associated

with the annual fourth quarter maintenance shutdown at our largest
facility

higher net cash provided by relative changes in our accrued

liabilities of $14.0 million in 2010 primarily as result of the

payment of 2008 employee incentive compensation during the first

quarter of 2009 which was significantly higher than 2009 employee
incentive compensation paid during the first quarter of 2010

the release of $1.0 million of utility deposits as result of

entering into new energy service agreements during 2010 and
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income tax refunds or $.l million during 2010 compared to income tax

payments of $1.1 million during 2009

During 2009 net cash provided by operations totaled $13.3 million as

compared to net cash provided by operations of $48.3 million during 2008 The

s35.O million decline in operating cash flows was primarily due to the nec

effects of

lower operating income before pension/OPEB during 2009 of $23.7

million

lower OPEB payments during 2009 of $1.1 million as result of

amendments to one of our OPEB plans and one of our pension plans to

create supplemental pension benefits in lieu of us paying certain

OPEB benefits throughout 2009

higher net cash used as result of relative changes in our accounts

receivable in 2009 of $46.0 million primarily due to an abnormally
low account-s receivable balance at- December 31 2008 as result of

customers limiting orders during the fourth quarter of 2008

higher net cash provided by relative changes in our inventory in 2009

of $45.4 million due to lower scrap and utility costs as well as

significant reduction in inventory levels during 2009 as we adjusted

production and inventory strategies based on changes in customer
order patterns

lower net cash used due to relative changes in our accounts payable
of $4.1 million in 2009 as result of increased cost management
efforts during 2009

higher net cash used as result of relative changes in our accrued
liabilities of 2O.3 million in 2009 as 2008 employee incentive

compensation paid in the first quarter of 2009 was significantly
higher than 2007 employee incentive compensation paid in the first

quarter of 2008

lower interes payments during 2009 of $2.1 million and

lower cax payments durrg 2009 of $1.9 million due to decreased

profitability

Investing Activities

During 2008 2009 and 20i0 we had capital expenditures or approximately

$13.3 million $9.0 million and $14.9 mu ion respecüvely Capital
expenditures for 2009 were lower than 2008 and 2010 capi al expenditures as we
limited all non-critical capital projects during 2009 due to the economic
conditions

During 2009 the Illinois Environmencal Protection Agency the IEPA
released $2.0 million of previously escrowed funds to us in connection with
the IEPAs approval of the completion of the soil portion of the remediation

plan for certain inactive waste management units These funds were used to

reduce our indebtedness under our revolving credit facility

Financing Activi ties

We increased our borrowings on our revolving credit facility by $15.2
million during 2010 primarily as result of the early extinguishment of the

remaining $5.1 million balance outstanding under our loan agreement with the

County of Peoria Illinois the retirement of the remaining $2.5 million
balance of our term loan with Wells Fargo both of which were funded with

borrowings under our revolving credit facility and increased production
during 2010
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We increased our borrowings on our revolving credit facility by $9.3
million during 2009 primarily as result of decreased profitability and the

payment of 2008s employee incentive compensation during the first guarter of

2009

We reduced our indebtdness under our revolving credit facility by $43.0
million during 2008 as result of increased profitability and net proceeds of

$24.7 million related to subscription rights offering during the first

quarter of 2008

Future Cash Requirements

Capi tal Expendi tures

Capital expenditures for 2011 are expected to be approximately $14
million and are primarily related to upgrades of production equipment We

expect to fund capital expenditures using cash flows from operations and

borrowing availability under our revolving credit facility

Summary of Debt and Other Contractual Commitments

As more fully described in Notes and to our Consolidated Financiai

Statements we are party to various debt lease and other agreements which

contractually and unconditionally commit us to pay certain amounts in the

future The following table summarizes such contractual commitments that are
unconditional both in terms of timing and amount by the type and date of

payment

Payment due date

2016

Contractual coxmnitment 2011 2012/2013 2014/2015 and after Total

In thousands

Principal payments on
debt obligations $27744 $1100 $28845

Operating leases 727 733 300 225 1985

Product supply agreements 2360 2470 1720 5d3 7193

Total $30831 $3204 $3120 $868 $38023

The timing and amounts shown in the above table are based upon the

contractual payment amount and the contractual payment date for such
commitments with the exception of our revolving credit facility As our

revolving credit facility requires our daily net cash receipts be used to

reduce the outstanding borrowings under the facility we have presented the

payment of the revolving credit facility balance as of December 31 2010 as

being due during 2011 as opposed to its maturity date in 2015 Additionally
due to the short-term nature of the assumed 2011 payment of our revolving
credit facility balance and as our other debt obligations are non-interest

bearing we have not included amounts for interest in the table above Note

that our revolving credit facility bears interest at prime plus margin

ranging from 0.25% to 0.5% for prime-based borrowings or LIEOR pius margin

ranging from 2.00% to 2.25% for Eurodollar based borrowings 2.6% at December

31 2010

The above table does not reflect any amounts that we might pay to fund

our defined benefit pension plans and OPEB plans as the timing and amount of

any such future fundings are unknown and dependent on among other things the

future performance of defined benefit pension plan assets interest rate

assumptions and actual future census data
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Off balance Sheet Financing

We do not have any off-balance sheet financing agreements other than the

operating leases included in the table above See Note to our Consolidated

Financial Statements

Environmental Obligations

At December 31 2010 our financial statements reflected accrued

liabilities of $.7 million for estimated remediation costs for those
environmental matters which we believe are probable and reasonably estimable
$.5 million of which we believe will be paid during 2011 Although we have
established an accrual for estimated future required environmental remediation

costs we do not know the ultimate cost of remedial measures that might

eventually be required by environmental authorities or that additional

environmental hazards requiring further remedial expenditures might not be

asserted by such authorities or private parties Accordingly the costs of

remedial measures may exceed the amounts accrued The upper end of the range
of reasonably possible costs to us for sites where we have been named
defendant is approximately $2.1 million including the $.7 million currently
accrued See Note to our Consolidated Financial Statements for discussions
of our environmental liabilities

Pension and Other Postretirement Obligations

We were not required to make any cash contributions to our defined
benefit pension plans during 2008 2009 or 2010 and we do not expect to be

required to make cash contributions during 2011 However we contributed $2.5
million during 2008 and $l million in each of 2009 and 2010 to our other

postretirement benefit plans and we expect to contribute $1.3 million during
2011 The decline in contributions to our other postretirement benefit plans
has been the result of amendments to one of our OPEB plans and one of our

pension plans to create supplemental pension benefits in lieu of certain OPEB

benefit payments for 2009 2010 and 2011 We have the ability to decide
whether or not to exercise such rights on year by-year basis If we had not

exercised such rights for 2011 our expected OPEB contributions would be $2.9
million higher Future variances from assumed actuarial rates including the

rate of return on plan assets may result in increases or decreases to pension

and other postretirement benefit funding requirements in future periods See

Note to our Consolidated Financial Statements

Working Capital and Borrowing Availability

Deoember 31
2009 2010

In thousands

Working capital $49063 $55095
Outstanding balance under revolving credit facility 12546 27740

Additional borrowing availability 38637 38779

The revolving credit facility requires us to use our daily cash receipts
to reduce outstanding borrowings which results in us maintaining zero cash

balances when there are balances outstanding under this credit facility

The amount of available borrowings under our revolving credit facility
is based on formula-determined amounts of trade receivables and inventories
less the amount of outstanding letters of credit $5.2 million at December 31
2010 Our revolving credit facility requires us to maintain minimum fixed

charge coverage ratio as defined in the agreement of 1.0 if excess

availability falls below $10.0 million Current forecasts indicate that we
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will be able to maintain excess availability of at least $10.0 million

throughout 2011 However as of December 31 2010 our fixed charge coverage
ratio was 0.8 as such we could only borrow $28.8 million of the availability
disclosed above without violating the financial covenants of the facility

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As further discussed in Note 12 to our Consolidated Financial

Statements we are party to certain transactions with related parties It is

our policy to engage in transactions with related parties on terms no less
favorable than could be obtained from unrelated parties

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

There have been no recent accounting pronouncements affecting our
Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31 2010

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The accompanying Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Dperations is based upon our Consolidated Financial

Statements which have been prepared in accordance with CAAP The preparation
of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of

contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reported period Dn

an on-going basis we evaluate our estimates We base our estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumptions we believe to be

reasonable under the circumstances the results of which form the basis for

making judgments about the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenues
and expenses Actual results may differ from previously-estimated amounts
under different assumptions or conditions

We believe the following critical accounting policies afrect our more
significant judgmencs and estimates used in the preparation of our
Consolidated Financial Stacements

Impairment of long-lived assets We recognize an impairment charge
associated with our long-lived assets primarily property and equipment
whenever we determine that recovery of such long lived asset is not probable
Such determination is made in accordance with the applicable CAAP requirements
associated with che long lived asset and is based upon among other things
estimates of the amount of future net cash flows to be generated by the long-
lived asset and estimates of the current fair value of the asset Adverse
changes in such estimates of future net cash flows or estimates of fair value
could result in an inability to recover the carrying value of the long-lived
asset thereby possibly requiring an impairment charge to be recognized in the
future

We assess property and equipment for impairment only when circumstances

as specified in ASC 360-10-35 Property Plant and Equipment indicate an

impairment may exist No long lived assets were tested for impairment during
2010 because there were no circumstances to indicate an impairment may exist

Income taxes We record valuation allowance to reduce our gross
deferred income tax assets to the amount believed to be realized under the
more likely than-not recognition criteria While we have considered future
taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in

assessing the need for valuation allowance it is possible in the future we

may change our estimate of the amount of the deferred income tax assets that
would more-likely-than-not be realized in the future resulting in an
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adjustment to the deferred income tax asset valuation allowance that would

either increase or decrease as applicable reported net income or loss in the

period such change in estimate was made We believe the realization of our

gross deferred income tax assets including our net operating loss and credit

carryforwards meet the more likely-than not realizability test at December

31 2010

We record reserve for uncertain tax positions for each tax position
where we believe it is more likely-than-not our position will not prevail with

the applicable tax authorities Our reserve for uncertain tax positions was

nil for each of 2008 2009 and 2010

Contingencies We record accruals for environmental legal and other

contingencies when estimated future expenditures associated with such

contingencies become probable and the amounts can be reasonably estimated

However new information may become available or circumstances such as

applicable laws and regulations may change thereby resulting in an increase

or decrease in the amount required to be accrued for such matters and
therefore decrease or increase in reported net income in the period of such

change

Assumptions on defined benefit pension plans Under defined benefit

pension plan accounting we recognize defined benefit pension plan expense or

credit and pension assets or liabilities based on certain actuarial

assumptions principally the assumed discount rate the assumed long term rate

of return on plan assets and the assumed increase in future compensation
levels We recognize the full funded status of our defined benefit pension

plans as either an asset for overfunded plans or liability for
underfunded plans in our Consolidated Balance Sheet Both of our defined

benefit pension plans were overfunded at December 31 2010 for financial

reporting purposes

The discount rates we utilize fo determining defined benefit pension

expense or credit and the related pension obligations are based in part on
current interest rates earned on long term bonds that receive one of the two

highest ratings given by recognized rating agencies In addition we receive

advice about apuropriate discount rates rrom our third party actuaries who

may in some cases utilize their own market indices The discount rates are

adjusted as of each valuation date December 31st to reflect then-current
interest rates on such long-term bonds Such discount rates are used to

determine the actjarial prnsent ale nf tho persion bligatins as of

December 31st or that year and such discount rates are also used to determine

the interest component or defined benefit pension expense or credit for the

following year

We used the following discount rates for our defined benefit pension

plans during the last three years

Discount rates used for
Obligations at Obligations at Obligations at

December 31 2008 and December 31 2009 and December 31 2010 and

expense in 2009 expense in 2010 expense in 2011

6.2% 5.6% 5.0%

The estimated return on plan assets component of each years defined

benefit expense or credit is based upon the assumed long-term rate of return

on plan assets for the plan and the actual fair value of the plan assets as of

the beginning of the year The assumed long-term rate of return on plan
assets represents the estimated average rate of earnings expected to be earned

on the funds invested or to be invested to fund the benefit payments inherent
in the projected benefit obligations Unlike the discount rate which is
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adjusted each year based on changes in current long-term interest rates the

assumed long-term rate of return on plan assets will not necessarily change

based upon the actual short-term performance of the plan assets in any given

year

Substantially all or our plans assets are invested in the Combined

Master Retirement Trust CMRT collective investment trust sponsored by

Contran to permit the collective investment by certain master trusts that

fund certain employee benefit plans sponsored by Contran and certain of its

affiliates Mr Harold Simmons is the sole trustee of the CMRT The

CMRTs investment committee of which Mr Simmons is member actively

manages the investments of the CMRT The trustee and investment committee

periodically change the asset mix of the CMRT based upon among other things
advice they receive from third-party advisors and their expectations as to

what asset mix will generate the greatest overall return The CMRTs long-
term investment objective is to provide rate of return exceeding composite

of broad market equity and fixed income indices including the SP 500 and

certain Russell indices utilizing both third-party investment managers as

well as investments directed by Mr Simmons During the 22-year history of

the CMRT through December 31 2010 the average annual rate of return of the

CMRT has been 15%

The CMRTs weighted average asset allocations by asset category were as
follows

December 31
2009 2010

Equity securities and limited partnerships 78% 83%
Fixed income securities 21 16

Real estate

Cash cash equivalents and other

Total 100% 100%

We regularly review our actuai asset allocation for our defined benerit

pension plans and will periodically rebalance the investments in the plans to

more accurately reflect the targeted allocation when considered appropriate

aor 2008 20u and 2010 the assumed long term race or return utilized
for plan assets invested in the CMRT was 10% We currently expect to utilize
the same long term rate of return on plan assets assumption in 2011 In

determining the appropriateness of such long term rate of return assumption
we considered the historical rate of return for the CMRT the current and

projected asset mix of the CMRT the investment objectives of the CMRTs
managers and the advice of our third-party actuaries

To the extent the defined benefit pension plans particular pension
benefit formula calculates the pension benefit in whole or in part based upon
future compensation levels the projected benefit obligations and the pension

expense will be based in part upon expected increases in future compensation
levels For pension benefits that are so calculated we generally base the

assumed expected increase in future compensation levels upon our average
historical experience and managements intentions regarding future

compensation increases which generally approximates average long-term
inflation rates

Assumed discount rates and rates of return on plan assets are re
evaluated annually Different assumptions could result in the recognition of

materially different expense amounts over different periods of times and

materially different asset and liability amounts in our Consolidated Financial
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Statements reduction in the assumed discount rate generally results in an

actuarial loss as the actuarially determined present value of estimated

future benefit payments will increase Conversely an increase in the assumed

discount rate generally results in an actuarial gain In addition an actual

return on plan assets for given year that is greater than the assumed return

on pian assets results in an actuarial gain while an actual return on plan

assets that is less than the assumed return results in an actuarial loss

Other actual outcomes that differ from previous assumptions such as

individuals living longer or shorter than assumed in mortality tables that are

used to determine the present value of estimated future benefit payments

changes in such mortality tables themselves or plan amendments will also

result in actuarial losses or gains Under OAAP all of such actuarial gains

and losses are not recognized in earnings currently but instead are deferred

and amortized into income over future periods based upon the expected average

remaining service life of active plan participants for plans for which

benefits are still being earned by active employees or the average remaining
life expectancy of inactive participants for plans for which benefits are not

still being earned by active employees However any actuarial gains

generated in future periods would reduce the negative amortization effect of

any cumulative unamortized actuarial losses while any actuarial losses

generated in future periods would reduce the favorable amortization effect of

any cumulative unamortized actuarial gains

Defined benefit pension expense or credit and the amounts recognized as

pension assets or liabilities are based upon the actuarial assumptions
discussed above We believe all of the actuarial assumptions used are

reasonable and appropriate During 2008 and 2010 we recorded defined

benefit pension credit of $73.9 million and $4.7 million respectively
During 200 we -ecorded defined benefit pension expense of $5.9 million The
fluctuations in the pension credit or expense were primarily the result of

decrease in our plans assets of $510 million during 2008 and an increase in

our plans assets of $58 million during 2009 These fluctuations in plan
assets impact the subseouent years defined benefit pension credit or expense

by changing the expected return on plan assets as the plan assets

multiplied by the assumed long term rate of return is higher or lower than the

prior year and changing the amortization or unrealized net gains or
losses as any differences between the expected return on plan assets and the

actual return on plan assets are deferred and amortized into income over
future periods The amount of funding requirements for our defined benefit

pension plans is based upon applicable regulations and will generally differ
from pension expense or credit recognizeo under OnAn No contributions were

required to be made to our defined benefit pension plans during the past three

years and we expect that no cash contributions to our pension plans will be

required during 2011

We currently expect to record defined benefit pension credit during
2011 of $19.0 million If we had lowered the assumed discount rate by 25 basis

points as of December 31 2010 our projected and accumulated benefit

obligations would have increased by approximately $10.0 million and $9.8

million respectively at that date and the expected defined benefit pension
credit for 2011 would have decreased by approximately $.6 million Similarly
if we lowered the assumed long-term rate of return on plan assets by 25 basis

points the expected defined benefit pension credit for 2011 would have

decreased by approximately $1.3 million

Assumptions on other postretirement benefit plans Under accounting for
other postretirement employee benefits OPEB expense or credits and accrued

OPEB costs are based on certain actuarial assumptions principally the assumed
discount rate We recognize the full unfunded status of our OPEB plans as

liability
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The assumed discount rates we utilize for determining OPEB expense and

the related accrued OPEB obligations are generally based on the same discount

rates we utilize for our defined benefit pension plans and are reevaluated

annually We believe all of the actuarial assumptions used are reasonable and

appropriate Changes in discount rates or other actual outcomes that differ

from previous assumptions have the same accounting implications as discussed

in Assumptions on defined benefit pension plans above Our OPEB plans do

not provide for medical benefits to participants Accordingly changes in the

healthcare cost trend rate do not impact our future OPEB expense or

obligations

We recognized consolidated OPEB credit of $8.5 million during 2008
$4.7 million during 2009 and $5.3 million during 2010 The decrease in the

OPEB credit during 2009 was primarily due to an amendment of one of our OPEB

plans during 2008 which among other things significantly increased fixed

monthly benefits We currently expect to record $5.2 million OPEB credit

during 2011 If we had lowered the assumed discount rate by 25 basis points
for all of our OPEB plans as of Oecember 31 2010 our aggregate accumulated
OPEB obligations would have increased by approximately $1.2 million at that

date and our expected OPEB credit for 2011 would have decreased by $36000

Similar to defined benefit pension contributions the amount of required
contributions for our OPEB plans will differ from the expense or credit

recognized for financial reporting purposes We contributed $2.5 million

during 2008 and $1.3 million in each of 2009 and 2010 to our OPEB plans and we

expect to contribute $1.3 million during 2011 The decline in contributions
to our OPEB plans has been the result of amendments to one of our OPEB plans
and one of our pension plans to create supplemental pension benefits in lieu
of certain OPEB benfit payments for 2009 2010 and 2011 We have the abilicy
to decide whether or not to exercise such rights on yearby-year basis If

we had not exercised such rights for 2011 our expected contributions would be
$2.9 million higher See Note to our Consolidated Financial Statements

ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our exposure to market risk relates primarily to changes in interest
rates on our debt obligations and the volatility of ferrous scrap costs our
primary raw material

Interest rates We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest
rates related co variable-rate indebtedness The following table presents
principal amounts interest rates and fair value for our outstanding variable-
rate indebtedness at December 31 2009 and 2010 See Note to our
Consolidated Financial Statements

Amount

Carrying Fair Interest Maturity
value value rate date

In thousands

December 31 2010 $27740 $27740 2.6% 2015

December 31 2009 $18166 $18166 4.0% 2010

Substantially all of our debt outstanding at December 31 2010 is at
variable interest rates We have performed sensitivity analysis assuming
hypothetical 10% adverse movement in interest rates As of December 31 2010
the analysis indicated that such rate movements would not have material
effect on our financial results from operations or cash flows However
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actual gains or losses in the future may differ materially from our analysis

based on changes in the timing and amount of interest rate movement

Ferrous scrap costs The purchase of ferrous scrap is highly

competitive and its price volatility is influenced by periodic shortages
export activity freight costs weather and other conditions beyond our

control The cost of ferrous scrap can fluctuate significantly We manage
ferrous scrap cost volatility primarily by adjusting our product selling

prices to recover the costs of anticipated increases in ferrous scrap prices
We generally do not have long-term supply agreements for our ferrous scrap

requirements because we believe the risk of unavailability is low We do not

engage in commodity hedging programs

ITEM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The information called for by this Item is contained in separate
section of this Annual Report See Index of Consolidated Financial

Statements page F-l

ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain system of disclosure controls and procedures The term
disclosure controls and procedures as defined by Exchange Act Rule 13a-

15 means controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in the reports we file or submit to the
SEC under the Secur ties Exchange Act or 1934 as amended the Act is

recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods

specfied in the SECs rules and zorms Disclosure controls and procedures
include without limitation contros and procedures designed to ensure that

information we are required to disclose in the reports we file or submit to

the SEC under the Act is accumulated and communicated to our management
including our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer
or oersons performino similar functions as appropriate to allow timely
decisions to be made regardino required disclosure Each of David Cheek
our President and Chief Executive Dfficer and Bert Downing Jr our Vice

President Chief Financial Dfficer Corporate Controller and Treasurer have

evaluated the design and operating effectiveness of our disclosure controls

and procedures as of December 31 2010 Based upon their evaluation these

executive officers have concluded our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective as of December 31 2010

Internal Control Dyer Financial Reporting

We also maintain internal control over financial reporting The term

internal control over financial reporting as defined ny Exchange Act Rule

13a-lSf means process designed by or under the supervision of our

principal executive and principal financial officers or persons performing
similar functions and effected by our board of directors management and
other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation or financial statements for external

purposes in accordance with GAAP and includes those policies and procedures
that
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pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect our transactions and dispositions of

our assets

provide reasonable assurance transactions are recorded as necessary
to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with

CAAP and that our receipts and expenditures are made only in

accordance with authorizations of our management and directors and

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection

of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of our assets that

could have material effect on our Consolidated Financial

Statements

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires us to report on

internal control over financial reporting in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

for the year ended December 31 2010 Pursuant to the regulations of the SEC
our independent registered public accounting firm is not required to and did

not audit our internal control uvel financial reporting as of December 31
2010

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There has been no change to our internal control over financial

reporting during the quarter ended December 31 2010 that has materially
affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control

over financial reporting

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate
internal control over financial reporting as such term is defined in Exchange
Act Rules l3a 15f and l5d 15f Our evaluation of theeffectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting is based upon the criteria

established in Internal Coot ol ntegra ted Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organ zations of the Treadway Commission commonly referred to

as the COSO framework Sased or our evaluation under that framework we
have concluded that our Internal control over financial reporting was
efzective as of December 31 20J0

This annual renort does not include an attestation report of our
independen regIstered pubc arcounting firm rgardinri our intna1 rnnrrnl
over financial reporting Managements report was not subject to attestation

by our independent registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the
SEC that permit us to provide only managements report in this annual report
See Scope of Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial

Reporting above

Certifications

Our chief executive officer and chief financial officer are required to
among other things quarterly file certifications with the SEC regarding the

quality of our public disclosures as required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes

Oxley Act ot 2uu2 We have filed the certitications for the quarter ended
December 31 2010 as exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to this Annual Report on Form 10-

ITEM 93 OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable
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PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to

uur definitive PLUXy Statement we will file with the SEC pursuant to

Regulation l4A within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by

this report the Keystone Proxy Statement

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to

the Keystone Proxy Statement

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to
the Keystone Proxy Statement

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR

INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to
the Keystone Proxy Statement See also Note 12 to our Consolidated Financial

Statements

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to

the Keystone Proxy Statement

PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

and Financial Statements and Schedules

The Registrant

our consolidated Financial Statements listed on the accompanying
Index of Consolidated Financial Statements see page are filed

as part of this Annual Report All financial statement schedules
have been omitted either because they are not applicable or

required or the information that would be required to be included
is disclosed in the notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements

Exhibits

Included as exhibits are the items listed in the Exhibit Index We

have retained signed original of any of these exhibits that contain

signatures and we will provide such exhibit to the Commission or its

staff upon request We will furnish copy of any of the exhibits
listed below upon request and payment of $4.00 per exhibit to cover
our costs of furnishing the exhibits Such requests should be
directed to the attention of our Corporate Secretary at our corporate
offices located at 5430 LEd Freeway Suite 1740 Dallas Texas 75240
Pursuant to Item 601b iii of Regulation we will furnish to

the Commission upon request any instrument defining the rights of

holders of long-term debt issues and other agreements related to

indebtedness which do not exceed 10% of our consolidated total assets

as of December 31 2010
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Exhibit No Exhibit Item

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the

Registrant dated January 18 2008 as filed with the Secretary of

State of Delaware Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to

the Registrants Report on Form dated January 18 2008

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant dated August 31
2005 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.6 to the

Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2003

4.1 Loan and Security Agreement dated August 31 2005 by and between

the Registrant and Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation

Central Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.51 to the

Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2003

4.2 First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of June

30 2006 by and between the Registrant and Wachovia Capital
Finance Corporation Central Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.7 to the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10 for

the year ended December 31 2006

4.3 Amendment No to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of March

23 2007 by and between the Registrant and Wachovia Capital
Finance Corporation Central Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.8 to the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31 2006

Amendment No to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of

October 2009 by and between the Registrant and Wachovia

Canitai F1narce Corooration Centrai Incorporated by reference

to Exflbit 4.1 to the Registrants Report on Form dated
October 2009

4.5 Amendment No to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of ugust
17 2010 by and between the Registrant and Wells Fargo Capital
Finance LLC Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the

Registrants Current Report on Form dated August 17 2010

10.1 Agreement Regarding Shared Insurance between Registrant Compx
International Inc Contran Corporation Kronos Worldwide Inc
NL Industries Inc Titanium Metals Corp and Valhi Inc dated

as of October 30 2003 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10 for the year
ended December 31 2003

10.2 The Combined Master Retirement Trust between Contran Corporation
and Harold Simmons as amended and restated effective September
30 7005 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit lfl.2 to the

Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2006

10.3 Keystone Consolidated Industries Inc Master Retirement Trust

between the Registrant and U.S Bank National Association as

amended and restated effective January 2006 Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrants Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2006
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Exhibit No Exhibit Item

10.4 Keystone Consolidated Industries Inc Master Retirement Trust II

between the Registrant and U.S Bank National Association as
amended and restated effective January 2006 Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrants Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2006

10.5 Form of Deferred Compensation Agreement between the Registrant
and certain executive officers Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Quarterly Report on Form l0-Q
File No 1-3919 for the quarter ended March 31 1999

10.6 Intercorporate Services Agreement dated as of January 2007 by

and between Registrant and Contran Corporation Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrants Annual Report on

Form 10 for the year ended December 31 2007

14.1 Amended Code of Business Conduct and Ethics dated August 14 2007

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14.1 to the Registrants
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2007

2l.1 Subsidiaries of the Company

31.l Certification

3l.2 Certification

32.l1 Certification

Ifanagement contract compensatory plan or agreement
Fi led herein
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed

on its behalf by the undersigned and dated March 17 2011 thereunto duly
authorized

KEYSTONE CONSOLIDATED INDUSTRIES INC
Registrant

/s/ GLENN SIMMONS

Glenn Simmons
Chairman of the Board

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as

amended this report has been signed below and dated as of March 17 2011 by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities
indicated

/s/ GLENN SIMMONS

Glenn Simmons
Chairman of the Board

/s/ THOMAS BARRY

Thomas Barry
Director

/s/ DAVID CHEEK
David Cheek

President and Chief Executive
Officer

/s/ STEVEN WATSON
Steven Watson

Director

/s/ DONALD ZIMA

Donald Zima
Director

/s/ BERT DOWNING JR _____
Bert Downing Jr
Vice President Chief Financial

Officer Corporate Controller
and Treasurer Principal
Accounting and tinancial unticer
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-2

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31 2009 and 2010 F-3

Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years ended December 31 2008 2009 and 2010 F-5

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income Loss
Years ended December 31 2008 2009 and 2010 F6

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity
Years ended December 31 2008 2009 and 2010 F-7

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31 2008 2009 and 2010 F-B

Notes to Consolidated Fianciai Statements 10

We omitced Schedules II lIT and IV because they are not apnlicable

or the required amounts are eicher not material or are presented in the Notes

to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of Keystone Consolidated Induscries

Inc

In our opinion the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the rclated

consolidated statements of operations of stockholders equity and

comprehensive income loss and or cash flows present fairly in all material

respects the financial position of Keystone Consolidated Industries Inc and

its subsidiaries at Docember 31 2009 and 2010 and the results of their

operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

December 31 2010 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted

in the Dnited States of America These financial statements are the

responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express

an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits We conducted our

audits of these statements in accordance with the standards 01 the Public

Company Accounting Oversight Board Dnited States Those standards require

that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether

the financial statements are free of materal misstatemert An audit ircludas

examining on test bass evidence suoporting the amounts and disclosures in

the financial statements assessing tne accounting prociples used and

signficant cstimates made by management and evaluatng tte overa rnaiciai

statement presentation We beiiev that our audits provide reasonable basis

for our opinior

March 17 2011



ASSETS

KEYSTONE CONSOLIDATED INDUSTRIES INC

AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

In thousands except share data

December 31
2009 2010

Current assets
Accounts receivable net of allowances

of $2897 and $2938
Inventories

Deferred income taxes

Income taxes receivable

Prepaid expenses and other

Total current assets

Other assets

Pensiun asst
Other net

93722 113713

1468
61207

328497
2583

393755
308586

85169

1468
63375

338 071

4628
407542
319533

88009

R4RulO 153962
1387 1533

Total other assets 86193 155495

Total assets $5084 $357217

41231
41225
4434
4206
2626

46765
45 944

17501
2029
1474

Property plant and equipment
Land

Buildings and improvements

Machinery and equipment
Construction in progress

Less accumulated depreciation

Net property plant and equipment

F3



KEYSTONE CONSOLIDATED INDUSTRIES INC
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS CONTINUED

In thousands except share data

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Current liabilities
Notes payable and current maturities of

long term debt

Accounts payable
Accrued OPEB cost
Other accrued liabilities

Total current liabilities

December 31
2009 2010

44659 58618

Noncurrent liabilities

Long-term debt

Accrucd OPEB cost
Deferred income taxes
Other

974

44244
19569
2868

937

45247
58830
1849

Total noncurrent abiltes 72655 106863

Stockholders equity
Common stock $01 par value 20000000 shares

authorized 12500000 shares issued and 12101932
shares outstanding at December 31 2009 and 20_0

Addtiuna1 paid t1 cctital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Retained earnings

Treasury stock at cost 398068 shares

Total stockholders equity

125

100111
132530
180860

796

147770

125

100111
97 307
189603

796

191736

Total liabilities and stockholders equity $265084 $357 A22

Cnmiwitments and contingencies Notes and

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

19396
5577
1357

18329

27744
6694
1279

22901

F-4



Operating income

Nonoperating income expense
Interest expense
Other net

Total nonoperating expense

Income before income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Net income

Basic and diluted income per share

Basic and diluted weighted average shares

outstanding

KEYSTONE CONSOLIDATED INDUSTRIES INC
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

In thousands except per share data

Years Ended December 31
2008 2009 2010

Net sales

Cost of goods sold

$562693
511197

$322347
299787

$450745
423341

Gross margin 51496 22560 27404

Other operating incbme expense
Selling expense
General and administrative expense
Defined benefit pension credit

expense
Other postretirement benefit credit

7227
16173

73923
8474

6343
11869

5887
4748

6758
14096

4654
5258

Total other operating income

expense 19351 1094258997

110 493 3209 16462

3798
567

1725
1049

1863
637

4365 676 1226

106128 2533 15236

40014 2292 6493

66112 241 8743

5.73 0.02 0.72

11533 12102 12102

See accompanying Notes to consolidated Financial Statements
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KEYSTONE CONSOLIDATED INDUSTRIES INC
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS

In thousands

Years ended December 31
2008 2009 2010

Net income 66114 241 8743

Other comprehensive income loss net of tax
Defined benefit pension plans

Other postretirement benefit plans

Total other comprehensive income loss net

Comprehensive income loss

358 021
17 856

375 877

309763

34 857

972

27885

28126

41656
6433

35223

43966

Accumulated other comprehensive income loss net of tax

Defined benefit pension plans
Balance at beginning of year

Other comprehensive income loss
Plan amendment
Net actuarial gain loss arising during year
Amortization of prior service cost

Amortization of net actuarial losses gains
Balance at end of year

Defined benefit OPEB plans
Balance at beginning ot year

Other comorehensive income loss
Plan amendment

Net actuarial gain loss arising during year
Amortization of prior service credit

Amortization of net actuarial losses

Balance at end of year

16a763

23
352 019

767

6746
193258

CQ99

10232
3326

10 802
852

3fl

$193258

21 611

805

12 441

158 101

328a3

49
032

10 473
5582

25871

$158401

31388
761

9507
$1l6745

25871

1581
990

5138

Total accumuwaced other comprenensive income loss
Balance at beginning of year

Other comprehensive income loss
Balance at end of year

215462

375 877
5160415

160a15
2788530

$l32 530
35223

97307

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Net cash provided by operating activities 48298 13323 11935

Cash flows from investing activities

Capital expenditures
Restricted investments net

Other net ________ _______ _______

Net cash used in investing activities 12893 6891 14828

Cash flows from financing activities

Revolving credit facility net

Principal payments on other notes payable
and long-term debt

Deferred financing costs paid
Issuance of common stock ________ _______ _______

Net cash provided byused in financing
activities

KEYSTONE CONSOLIDATED INDUSTRIES INC
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

In thousands

Years ended December 31
2008 2009 2010

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income 66114 241 8743
Depreciation and amortization 15164 13584 12062
Deferred income taxes 35821 6512 4401
Defined benefit pension expense credit 73923 5887 4654
OPEB credit 8474 4748 5258
OPEB payments 2458 1347 1303
Bad debt expense 16 2935 78

Impairment of inventory 1165 2821 303

Other net 503 384 233
Change in assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable 28449 17516 5575
Inventories 18472 26812 4628
Accounts payable 6302 2199 1117
Accrued environmental costs 157 4395
Accrued liabilities 9871 10440 3546
Income taxes 1178 5322 2177
Other net 197 114 1152

13298 9000 14937
32 2028

437 81 110

42997 9282 15194

16962 l558 11927
159 130 374

24713

35405 6432 2893

F-B



KEYSTONE CONSOLIDATED INDUSTRIES INC
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATENENTS OF CASH FLOWS CONTINUED

In thousands

Years ended Decetber 31
2008 2009 2010

Cash and cash equivalents
Net change from operations investing

and financing activities

Balance at beginning of year

Balance at end of year

Supplemental disclosures
Cash paid for

Interest net of amounts capitalized $3581 $1462 $1631
Income taxes paid refunded net 3015 1106 85

See accompaxlyiiig Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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KEYSTONE CONSOLIDATED INDUSTRIES INC
AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Decenther 31 2010

Note Summary of significant accounting policies

Nature of our business Keystone Consolidated Industries Inc KCI or

Keystone OTCEB KYCH is leading domestic producer of steel fabricated

wire products industrial wire and wire rod We also manufacture wire mesh
coiled rebar steel bar and other products Our products are used in the

agricultural industrial cold drawn construction transportation original

equipment manufacturer and retail consumer markets We are vertically

integrated converting substantially all of our products from billet produced
in our steel mini-mill

Organization We are majority owned by Contran Corporation Contran
which owned approximately 62% of our outstanding common stock at December 31
2010 In March 2011 Contran completed tender offer in which it purchased
1.6 million shares of our common stock Following completion of such purchase
under the tender offer Contran owns approximately 75% of our outstanding
shares Substantially all of Contrans outstanding voting stock is held by
trusts established for the benefit of certain children and grandchildren of
Harold Simmons for which Mr Simmons is the sole trustee or is held

directly by Mr Simmons or other persons or related companies to Mr Simmons

Consequently Mr Simmons may be deemed to control Contran and us

Basis of Presentation Our Consolidated Financial Statements include
the accounts of Keystone and our majority owned subsidiaries All material

intercompany accounts and balances have been eliminated Certain prior year
amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation

Our riscal year is either 52 or 53 weeks and erds on the Sunday closest
to December 31 of each year 2008 and 2009 were each 52-week years while 2010

was 53-week year

Unless otherwise indicated references in this report to we us or
our lefet Keystone Consolidated Industries Inc arid ice subsidiaries
taken as whole

Nanagements Estimates The preparation of financial statements in

conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

CAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the

reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period Actual results

may differ from previously estimated amounts under different assumptions or
conditions

Accounts receivable We provide an allowance for doubtful accounts for

known and estimated potential losses arising from our sales to customers based

on periodic review of these accounts

Inventories and cost of sales We state inventories at lower of cost or
market net of allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventories For
financial reporting purposes the last-in first-out LIFO method was used

to determine the cost of the productive inventories held at our Keystone Steel
Wire and Engineered Wire Products segments while the first-in first-out

FIFO or average cost methods were used to determine the productive
inventories held at our Keystone-Calumet segment and the cost of supplies
inventories held at all our facilities Inventories include the costs for raw

F-lU



materials and the costs to manufacture the raw materials into finisned goods
and overhead Depending on the inventorys stage of completion our

manufacturing costs can include the costs of packing and finishing utilities
maintenance and depreciation inbound and outbound shipping and handling and

salaries and benefits associated with our manufacturing process We allocate

fixed manufacturing overhead based on normal production capacity Unallocated
overhead costs resulting from periods with abnormally low production levels

are charged to expense as incurred As inventory is sold to third parties we

recognize the cost of sales in the same period the sale occurs We

periodically review our inventory for estimated obsolescence or instances when

inventory is no longer marketable for its intended use and we record any
write-down equal to the difference between the cost of inventory and its

estimated net realizable value based on assumptions about alternative uses
market conditions and other factors

Property plant and equipment and depreciation xpense Prquerty plant
and equipment are stated at cost Depreciation for financial reporting

purposes is computed using principally the straight line method over the

estimated useful lives of 10 to 30 years for buildings and improvements and
three to 15 years for machinery and equipment Accelerated depreciation
methods are used for income tax purposes as permitted Depreciation expense
for financial reporting purposes was $15.2 million $13.6 million and $12.1
million during 2008 2009 and 2010 respectively Upon sale or retirement of
an asset the related cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the

accounts and any gain or loss is recognized in income currently

We expense expendituies for maintenance repairs and minor renewals as
incurred including planned major maintenance We capitalize expenditures for

major improvements We capitalize interest costs related to major long term

capital projects and renewals as component of construction costs We did not
capitalize any material interest costs in 2008 2009 or 2010

We perform impairment tests when events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value of our property p1an and equipment may not be
recoverable We consider relevant factors We pertorm the impairment
test by comparing the eacH mated future undiscounted cash flows associated with
the asset to the assets net carrying Value to determine if an impairment
exists

Long term debt and deferred financing costs We state long term debt
net of any unamortized original issue premium or discount We classify
amortization of deferred financing costs and any premium or discount
associated with the issuance of indebtedness in interest expense and compute
such amortization by the interest method over the term of the applicable
issue

Pension plans and other postretirement benefits Accounting and funding
policies for our pension plans and other postretirement benefits DPEB are
described in Note

Environmental liabilities We record liabilities related to

environmental remediation when estimated future expenditures are probable and

reasonably estimable If we are unable to determine that single amount in
an estimated range of probable future expenditures is more likely we record
the minimum amount of the range Such accruals are adjusted as further
information becomes available or circumstances change We do not discount
costs of future expenditures for environmental remediation obligations to

their present value due to the uncertain timeframe of payout We record

recoveries of environmental remediation costs from other parties as assets
when their receipt is deemed probable We did not have any such assets
recorded at December 31 2009 or 2010 See Note
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Income taxes Deferred iicome tax assets and liabilities are recognized

for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the

income tax and financial reporting carryng amounts of assets and liabilities
We periodically evaluate our deferred tax assets and adjust any related

valuation allowance based on the estimate of the amount of such deferred tax

assets which we believe does not meet the more-likely-than-not recognition

criteria

We record reserve for uncertain tax positions for tax positions where

we believe it is more-likely-than-not our position will not prevail with the

applicable tax authorities Our reserve for uncertain tax positions was nil

in each of 2008 2009 and 2010

Net sales We record sales when products have shipped and title and

other risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the customer We include

amounts charoed to qustomers for shipping and handlino in net sales Our
sales are stated net of volume rebates and discounts for price and early

payment We report taxes assessed by governmental authority such as sales
use value added and excise taxes on net basis i.e we do not recognize
these taxes in either our revenues or in our costs and expenses

Selling general and administrative expenses Selling general and

administrative expenses include costs related to marketing sales
distribution environmental costs and administrative functions such as

accounting treasury and finance and includes costs for salaries and

benefits travel and entertainment promotional materials and professional
fees Advertising costs expensed as incurred were $1.3 million $1.1
million and $1.4 1iiilliui1 in 2008 2009 and 2010 iespectiuely

Note Issuance of common stock

On March 24 2008 issued 2.5 million shares of our common stock
nursuant to subscrption rights ofzering to our stockholders of record as of

January 28 2008 at prce of $10.00 per share the Otfe ing We used the
net ofrering oroceeds or 021.7 million to reduce indebtedness under our

revolving credit acilty wh1h in turn created additional availability under
that racilHty that can be used for our genera corporate purposes

Note usiness segment information

Our operatng segments are organizcd by our manufacturing facilities and
include three reportable segments Each operating segment is separately
managed and each operating segment represents strategic business unit
offering different products as follows

Keystone Steel Wire KSW located in Peoria Illinois operates
an electric arc furnace mini mill rod mill industrial wire mill and
wire fabrication facilities and manufactures and sells wire rod
coiled rebar industrial wire fabricated wire and other products to

agricultural industrial construction commercial original
equipment manufacturers and retail consumer markets

Engineered Wire Products Inc EWP located in Upper Sandusky
Ohio manufactures and sells wire mesh in both roll and sheet form
that is utilized as reinforcement in concrete construction products
including pipe pre-cast boxes and applications for use in roadways
buildings and bridges and

Keystone-Calumet Inc Calumet located in Chicago Heights
Illinois manufactures and sells merchant and special bar quality
products and special sections in carbon and alloy steel grades for

use in agricultural cold drawn construction industrial chain
service centers and transportation applications as well as in the
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production of wide variety of products by original equipment

manufacturers

Calumets primary raw material is billet and EWPs primary raw material

is wire rod Both calumet and EWP source the majority of their primary raw

material requirements from 15W

The accounting policies of our segments are the same as those described

in the summary of significant accounting policies except that no defined

benefit pension or OPEB expense or credits are recognized and the elimination

of intercompany profit or loss on ending inventory balances is not allocated

to each segment Sales between reportable segments are generally recorded at

prices that approximate market prices to third party customers

Years ended December 31
2008 2009 2010

In thousands

Net sales
15W $542106 $298219 $433729
EWP 63433 37575 41310
Calumet 17165 11127 22987
Elimination of intersegment sales 60011 24574 47281

Total net sales $562693 $322347 $450745

Operating income loss
KSW 32174 5976 10604
EWP 5338 1405 1278
Calumet 2929 3703 97

Defined benefit pension credit

expense 73923 5887 4654
OPEB credit 8474 4748 5258
Other1 6487 670 2873

Total operating income 110493 3209 16462

Nonoperating income expense
Interest expense 3798 1725 1863
Other net 567 1049 637

Income before income taxes $106128 2533 15236

1Other items primarily consist of the elimination of intercompany
profit or loss on ending inventory balances and general corporate expenses

At the end of each year we calculate our LIFO reserve balances based on
actual year-end inventory quantities and costs During 2009 15W and EWP

significantly decreased their LIFO inventory reserve balances primarily
because raw material costs and inventory levels for December 2009 were

substantially lower than actual December 2008 raw material costs and inventory
levels Although the reduction in inventory quantities resulted in partial
liquidation of LIFO inventory during 2009 the impact of the liquidation was
not significant to reported cost of sales During 2010 KSW and EWP LIFO

reserves increased primarily due to increased raw material costs and slightly

higher inventory levels from those at December 2009 Changes in LIFO reserves

are reflected in cost of goods sold The changes in KSWs and EWPs LIFO

inventory reserve balances for 2008 2009 and 2010 are presented in the table

below
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Increase decrease in LIFO reserve

2008 2009 2010

In thousands

15W 6588 9125 $4506

EWP 3554 6075 917

Total $Jj5200 $423

During the fourth quarter of 2008 KSW recorded additional income of $.9
million related to obtaining an excise tax exemption in 2008 on 2007

electricity costs

During the fourth quarter of 2008 and throughout 2009 Calumet
determined it would not be able to recover the cost of certain inventory items
in future selling prices and recognized impairment charges of $1.2 million and

$2.8 million respectively to reduce the inventory to its net realizable
value Nominal impairment charges were incurred during 2010 These

impairment charges are included in cost of goods sold

On July 2009 the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency the
IEPA approved the completion of the soil portion of the remediation plan of

certain waste management units at 15W which resulted in $4.2 million
decrease recorded as credit to general administrative expense in KSWs
environmental reserves durino 2009 See Note

During 2009 18W recorded bad debi expense of $2.9 million primarily due

to Chapter ii riling by one of their customers Nominal amounts of bad debt

expense were incurred during 2008 and 2010 Bad debt expense is included in

general and administrative expense

Substantially all of our assets are located in the United States
Sgment assets are comprised of all assets attributbl to each reportable

operating segment Corporate assets consist principally of the pension asset
restricted investments deterred tax assets and corporate property plant and

equipment

December 31
2008 2009 2010

In thousands
Total assets

18W $150021 $136634 $145416
EWP 24758 19495 19034
Calumet 15793 11940 14820
Corporate 59161 97015 177947

Total $357
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Years ended December 31

United States

Canada

MexH co

Other

2008

Tot

Note Inventories net

5562693 5322347 $450745

December 31
2009 2010

In thousands

Raw materials
Billet

Wire rod
Work in process
Finished product

Supplies

3222 3957
9l7 5832
5282 7042
645 5030

19747 22821
22646 25919

Total 4I25 $45944

We beL eve our LIFO reserve represents the excess of replacement or

current cost over the stated LIFO value of our inventories

____ 2009 2010

In thousands

Depreciation and amortization

IKSW $12754 $11362 9874
5919 1913 1674 1593
Calumet 375 435 481

Corporate 122 113 114

Total $15164 $13584 $12062

Capital expenditures
KSW $11516 8094 $13456
EWP 845 375 528

Calumet 915 531 953

Corporate 22

Total $fl298 000 $14937

Most of our products are distributed in the Midwestern Southwestern and

Southeastern regions of the United States Information concerning geographic
concentration of net sa1es based on location of customer is as follows

Years ended December 31
2008 2009 2010

In thousands

$550928 $3 9390 $446972
7992 2169 2982

38
1435 788 791

Inventory at 5150 60459 70601
Less LIFO reserve 19234 24657
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Note Notes payable and long-term debt

flecenther 31
2009 2010

In thousands

Wells Fargo revolving credit facility $12546 $27740
Term loans

Wells Fargo 5620
County 6302

Other 902 941

Total debt 25370 28681
Less current maturities 19396 27744

Total long term debt 5974 937

Wells Fargo Facility Our revolving credit facility with Wells Fargo
as amended provides for borrowings up to $70 million and matures August
2015 Outstanding borrowings bear interest at prime plus margin ranging
trom 0.25% to 05% for prime based borrowings or LIBOR plus margin ranging
from 2.00% to 2.25% ror Eurodollar Lased borrowings 2.6% at Oecember 31
2010

The amount of available borrowings under our revolving credit facility
is based on formula determined amounts of trade receivables and inventories
less the amount of outstanding letters of ccdit At Oecembar 31 2010
letters of credit for $5.2 million weie outstanding ann excess availability
under the Wells Fargo Facility was $38.8 million In the event our excess

availability falls below $10.0 mi lion the facility agreoment imposes certain
lomitations on our ab2lty to osy divdends or reourchase our common stock mad

requires us to mantain min1mum tixeo chance coverage ratio as de med in
the agreement OL 1.0 Current orecasts indicate that we will be able to

maintan excess acailability or 1eas $10.0 rnilron throughoat 2011
owever as or Oecember 31 2010 our r1xed charge coverage ratio was 0.8 as

such we could only borrow $28.8 millon of the availability discussed above
without iolating the rinancial covenants o1 the racility

The Wolls Fargo ac iitv is co_ ateralized by substantially our

operating assets In he event our financial covenants were to become

aoplicable failure to comply with the covenants could result in the

acceleration of the outstanding balance under the facility prior to its stated

maturity date Additionally Wells Fargo can restrict our ability to incur

additional secured indebtedness and can declare default under the credit

facility in the event of among other things material adverse change in our
business

The Wells Fargo Facility requires our daily net cash receipts be used to

reduce the outstanding borrowings which results in us maintaining zero cash
balances so long as there is an outstanding balance under this facility
Accordingly any outstanding balances under the Wells Fargo Facility are

always classified as current liability regardless of the maturity date of

the facility

Our term loan with Wells Fargo matured in August 2010 at which time we

repaid the remaining $2.5 million principal balance then due using borrowings
under our revolving credit facility
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County Term Loan In December 2010 we repaid the remaining $5.1
million principal balance outstanding under our loan agreement with the County
of Peoria Illinois in full satisfaction of our obligations under that

agreement We borrowed under our revolving credit facility in order to fund

such repayment

Aggregate maturities or debt at December 31 2010 The aggregate future

maturities of debt at December 31 2010 are shown in the following table
Note that as our revolving credit facility requires our daily oet cash

receipts be used to reduce the outstanding borrowings under the facility we

have presented the payment of the revolving credit facility balance as of

December 31 2010 as being due during 2011 as opposed to its maturity date in

2015

Year ending December 31 Amount

In thousands

2011 $27744
2012
2013

2014 1100
2015

_________
Total $28845

Note Income taxes

Summarized below are the differences between the provision for

income taxes and the amounts that would be expected using the federal

statutory income tax rate of 35% and ii the components of the comurehensive

provision for income taxes

Years ended December 31
2008 2009 2010

In thousands

Expected tax provision at statutory race 371a6 888 5333
U.S state income taxes net 28a2 399 1118
Other net 26 42

rvision fn- inrmo bax 40l 6493

Provision for income taxes

Currently payable refundable
U.S federal 3453 d2d6 1984
U.S state 740 26 107

Net currently payable refundable a193 4220 2091
Deferred income taxes net 35821 6512 4402

Provision for income taxes 40014 2292 6493

Comprehensive provision for income

taxes allocable to
Net income 40014 2292 6493
Other comprehensive income loss

Pension plans 215824 18505 25771
OPEE plans 10761 3793 3980

$186571 17004 28284

5-17



The components of the net deferred tax asset/liability are summarized

below

December 31
2009 2010

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

In thousands

Tax effect of temporary differences relating
tot

Inventories 1361 7032
Property and equipment 13842 14710
Pension asset 32dl3 59661
Accrued OPEB cost 17415 18013
Accrued liabilities 5266 6276
other deductible differences 1415 1355
Net operating loss and credit

carryforwards 5663 ________ 366

Gross deferred tax assets

liabilities 31120 46255 33042 74371
Reclassification principally netting by

tax jurisdiction 26686 26686 15541 15541

Net deferred tax asset liability 4434 19569 17501 58830
Less current deferred tax asset 4434 17501

Noncurrent deferred tax liability L2 $J58830

At December 31 2010 we have state net operating loss and credit

carryforwards of $.4 million that expire between 2014 and 2029 At December
31 2010 we have concluded that no deferred income tax asset valuation
allowance is required to be recognized with respect to such carryforwards

We file income tax returns in various U.S federal state and local

jurisdictions Our income tax returns prior to 2007 are generally considered
closed to examination by applicable tax authoiities Tax authorities are

examining certain of our U.S tax returns and may propose tax deficiencies
including penalties and interest We cannot guarantee any adjustments if

proposed will be resolved in our favor due to the inherent uncertainties

invulved in settlement initic.civus end couit anu tax prucuudisgs Wc bclievc
the ultimate disposition of such tax examinations should not have material

adverse effect on our consolidated financial position results of operations
or liquidity
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Note Pensions and other postretirement benefits

We sponsor several pension plans and OPEB plans for certain active

employees and certain retirees The benerits under our defined benefit plans
are based upon years of service and employee compensation

Employer Contributions and Plan Benefit Payments

Our funding policy is to contribute annually the minimum amounc required
under ERISA regulations plus additional amounts as we deem appropriate We do

not anticipate being required co fund any contributions to our defined benefit

pension plans during 2011 Additionally we are permitted but not required
to create supplemental benefits under one of our defined benefit pension plans
in lieu of us paying the benefits granted by one of our OPEB plans We have
the ability to decide whether or not to exercise such right on yearby year
basis When we do so our accumulated OPEB benefit obligation is reduced and

our accumulated defined benefit pension obligation is increased by the amount
of OPEB benefits that will be paid via supplemental pension benefits as

presented in the Funded Etatus section below

Benefit payments to plan participants which reflect expected future

service as appropriate are expected to be the equivalent of

Pension Other

Benefits Benefits

In thousands

2011 3l20 1279
2012 28394 4120
2013 28414 023
2014 28257 3928
20i5 28i 3838
Next years 138471 735

Pension benerts in 201 iuclude The sonplcrlental pensior benerits

created in _ieu of the oaymencs tat would have been due under one of

our OPEB plans which are excluded rrom rhe other hene it payments
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Funded Status

Change in prnjected benef it

obligatinns PBO
Balance at beginning of the year
Service cost

Interest cost

Plan anendment

Actuarial losses

Benefits paid
OPEB benefits extinguished by
increased pension benefits

Balance at end of the year

Change in plan assets
Fair value at beginning of the year
Actual return on plan assets

Employer contributions

Benefits paid

Fair value at end or the year

unded status

Amounts ecognized in thc

Consolidated Balance Sheecs
oension asset

Accrued OPEB costs
Current

Noncurrent

Accumulated other omprehensive
ss income

Prior service cost credit
Actuarial losses

Total

Accumulated benefic obligations

ABO of pension plans

$35L1 278

3080
21 l7

2010 2009

In thousands

$377337
3218

20161

3138
1347

2926 3001

45601
106

2489

2561
1305

926

We use December 31st measurement date for our defined benefit pension
and OPEB plans The followina tables provide the runded status of our plans
and reoonciliation of the ohanges in our plans projected benefit

obligations and fair value of assets for the years ended December 31 2009 and
2010

Pension Benefits

2009

Other Benefits

2010

43932
91

2712
76

16623 21634
31062 30720

3001

S377337 $394556 45601 46526

5404 610

88595

31 062

$462143
117095

30720
1347

1347
1305

1305
$462143 $548518

81806 $153962 d5oOl $46526

8806 $153962

8480o

10 129

2r6 270

256399

$153962

8897
180073
188970

1357
ta 24r
45 601

132674
90797

41 877

1279
45 247
46526

116505
85 041

31464

53e1l205 $342932 87a78 $77990

S372610 $389136
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The amounts shown in the table above for unamortized actuarial gains and

losses and prior service credits and costs at December 31 2009 and 2010 have

not been recognized as components of our periodic defined benefit cost as of

those dates These amounts will be recognized as components of our periodic
defined benefit cost in future years These amounts net of deferred income

taxes are recognized in our accumulated other comprehensive income loss at

December 31 2009 and 2010 We expect approximately $10.3 million and $1.2
million of the unamortized actuarial losses and prior service cost
respectively will be recognized as components of our periodic defined benefit

pension credit in 2011 and that $8.5 million and $16.2 million of the

unamortized actuarial losses and prior service credits respectively will be

recognized as components of our DPEB credit in 2011 The table below details

the changes in other comprehensive income loss for the years ended December

31 2008 2009 and 2010

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

2008 2009 2010 2008 2009 2010

In thousands

changes in glen assets end benefit

obligations recognized in other

comprehensive income
Plan amendment 37 $22812 76
Net actuarial gain loss arising
during the year 364224 33085 50808 5332 3138 2561

Amortization of unrecognized
grior service cost credit 1229 1232 1232 17313 16170 16170
Net actuarial losses gains 10813 19045 15389 6176 8619 8317

Total f75738e5 9533 S67429 928617 810765 $10413

Net periodic defined benefit cost or credit

The components of our net periodic defined beneft cost or credics are
presented in the table below During 2008 2009 and 2010 the amounts shown
below for the amortization oc actuarial gains and losses and prior service
credits and costs net of deferred income taxes were recognized as components
of our accumuiated other comprehensive ncome at December 31 2007 2008 and

2009 respectively

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

2008 2009 2010 200k3 2009 2010

In thousands

Service cost 3130 3080 3218 128 91 106

Interest cost 22568 21417 20161 2119 2712 2489
Expected return on plan assets 90037 38887 44654
Amortization Oc

PzHor service cost credit 1229 1232 1232 17313 16170 16170
Net actuarial losses gains 108l3 19045 15389 6176 8619 8317

Settlement of 2006 1114 Agreement
benefits

_________
416

Total benefit cost credit 973923 5887 4654 $847 $d7a8 S5.25$

The 1114 Agreement replaced certain retirees medical and prescription
drug coverage with fixed monthly cash payments and provided for supplemental
monthly cash payments to these retirees for particular year if in the prior
year we achieved specified levels of free cash flow as defined in the 1114

Agreement During 2008 we settled dispute regarding the free cash flow
calculation for 2005 which impacted the supplemental monthly payments for
2006 with one time lump-sum supplemental payment that aggregated $.4
million We recorded the expense associated with this settlement as
reduction of our 2008 OPEB credit
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Actuarial assumptions

summary of our key actuarial assumptions used to determine the present
Value of benefit obligations as of December 31 2009 and 2010 are shown in the

following table

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

2009 2010 2009 2010

Discount rate 5.6% 5.0% 5.5% 5.0%

Rate of compensation increase 3.6% 3.6%

summary of our key actuarial assumptions used to determine the net

periodic pension and other retiree benefit credit or expense during 2008 2009
and 2010 are shown in the following table

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

2008 2009 2010 2008 2009 2010

niscount rate 6.3% 6.2% 5.6% 6.5% 6.2% 5.5%

Expected return on plan assets 10.0% 10.0% 10.0%

Rate of compensation increase 3.0% 3.4% 3.6%

Variances from actuarially assumed rates will result in increases or
decreases in pension assets accumulated defined benefit obligations net
periodic defined benefit credits or expense and funding requirements in future

periods

At December 31 2009 and 2010 substantially all of our defined benefit

pension plans assets were invested in the Combined Master Retirement Trust

CMRT collective investment trust sponsored by Contran to permit the
collective investment by certain master trusts that fund certain employee
benefit plans sponsored by Contran and certain of ts affiliates The CMRTs
long-term investment objective is to provide rate of return exceeding
composite of broad market equity and fixed income indices including the SP
500 and certain Russell indicies while utilizing both third party investment

managers as well as investments diiected by Mr Simmons Mr Simmons is the
sole trustee of the CMRT The trustee of the CMRT along with the CMRTs
investment committee of which Mr Simmons is member actively manage the
investments or the CMRT The CMRT trustee and investment committee seek to

maximize returns in order to meet the CMRTs long-term investment objective
The CMRT trustee and investment committee do not maintain specific target
asset allocation in order to achieve their objectives but instead they

periodically change the asset mix of the CMRT based upon among other things
advice they receive from third-party advisors and their expectations regarding
potential returns for various investment alternatives and what asset mix will

generate the greatest overall return From its inception in 1988 through
December 31 2010 the CMRT has averaged an annual rate of return of 15% For
the years ended December 31 2008 2009 and 2010 the assumed long-term rate
of return for plan assets invested in the CMRT was 10% In determining the

appropriateness of the long term rate of return assumption we primarily rely
on the historical rates of return achioved by the CMRT although we consider
other factors as well including among other things the investment objectives
of the CMRTs managers and their expectation that such historical returns will
in the future continue to be achieved over the long-term

The CMRT unit value is determined semi-monthly and the plans have the

ability to redeem all or any portion of their investment in the CMRT at any
time based on the most recent semi-monthly valuation However the plans do

not have the right to individual assets held by the CMRT and the CMRT has the
sole discretion in determining how to meet any redemption request For

purposes of our plan asset disclosure we consider the investment in the CMRT

as Level input because the CMRT value is established semi monthly and

F-22



the plans have the right to redeem their investment in the CMRT in part or in

whole at anytime based on the most recent valuo and ii observable inputs
from Level or uevel were used to value approximately 86% and 8% of the
assers of the CMRT at December 31 7009 and 2010 respectively as noted below
The aggregate fair value of all of the CMRT assets including funds of Contran
and its other affiliates that also invest in the CMRT and supplemental asset
mix details or the CNRT as or December 31 2009 and 2010 are as follows

December 31
2009 2010

in millions

CMRT asset value $601.6 $712.2

CNRT fair value input
Level 83% 83%
Level2
Level 14 16

100% 100%

CMRT asset mix

Domestic equities principally publicaily
traded 65% 73%

International ecaiities publically traded

Fixod incumo secui.ities publically rodtid 21 16

Privately managed limited partnerships
Other

100% 100%

Derined contributiou pension plans

We a1so maintain severa1 dnfined contribution pension plans Expense
related to these plans was $2.1 mi11ion tr 2008 $2.0 miiTho in 2009 and $2.2
million in 2010

Note Environmental matters

We have been named as derendant ror certain environmental sites

pursuant to governmental laws and private actions including waste disposal
stes and facilities currently or previously owned operated or used by us
These proceedings seek cleanup costs damages for personal injury or property
damage and/or damages for injury to natural resources Certain of these

proceedings involve claims for substantial amounts

On quarterly basis we evaluate the potential range of our liability
at sites where we have been named defendant by analyzing and estimating the

range of reasonably possible costs to us At December 31 2010 the upper end

of the range of reasonably possible custs to us or sites rhre wa hav been

named defendant is approximately $2.1 million including our recorded

accrual of $.7 million Our cost estimates have not been discounted to

present value due to the uncertainty of the timing or the pay out At each
balance sheet date we make an estimate of the amount or our accrued

environmental costs that will be paid out over the subsequent twelve months
and we classify such amount as current liability We classify the remainder

of the accrued environmental costs as noncurrent liabilities See Note 10

It is possible our actual costs could differ materially from the amounts

we have accrued or the upper end of the estimated range for the sites where we
have been named defendant Our ultimate liability may be afzected by
number of factors including the imposition of more stringent standards or
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requirements under ennironmentai laws nr rnguiations new developments or

changes in remedia alternatives and costs or determination that we are

potentially resnonsible for the release or hazardous substances at other

sites lthough we believe our comprehensIve general liability insurance

policies provide indemnification for certain costs that we incur with respect
to our environmental remediation obligations we do not currently have

receivables recorded for any such recoveries

Issues Outstanding at Decm-nber 31 2010

Prior to one of our subsidiaries 1996 acquisition of DeSoto Inc
DeSoto DeSoto was rotified by the Texas Natural Resource Conservation

Commission now called the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality or

TCEQ that there were certain deficIencies in prior reports to the TCEQ
relative to one or DeSotos non operating raci ites located in Gainesville
Texas During l9 that- subsidIary ent-ered mt-n the TCFQc Vnlunt-ary Cleanup

Program as it relates to that facility Remediation activities at this site

are expected to continue ror another two to three years and total future

remediation cos are presently estimated to be between $.4 million and $1.7
million

In February 2009 we received NoUce of Violation from the United

States Environmental Protection Agency the U.S EPA regarding alleged air

permit issues at RSW The U.S EP alleges KSW is exceeding its sulfur

dioxide emission limits set forth in its permits ii failed to apply for

permit that would be issued under the U.S Clear Air Act and the Illinois

Environmental Protection Act in connection with the installation or certain

equrpmenn in its melt shup and ii failed uu muniLur pH read ilgs uf an air
scrubber in the wire ga vanizino area of the plant We disagree with the U.S
EPAs assertons and we were In dscussions with the U.S EPA throughout 2009
On December 31 2009 we were noeifed The case nad been rererred to the

Deoartmet justice the DOU -or revaw rol low uo Darng the rst

quarter or 2010 we submitteu tters egardlng our nersuective or the ma er
to the DOj and we are avairirg thoir response iju mo he sec no quarter of

2010 the U.S EPA _eoueseed ddio inromaton reoarding the leged

permit issues and we submitted such inrormation Nay 2010 There has been

no subsequent commuThcaton wth he U.S EPA to date we have not

received ary further communications regardng This matter we cannot estimate

any ooten ial costs us to resolve this matter and we can make no assu ance
our errorts be successru or that we car 0void any enforcenent actiol o_

resultng mnes rrom these l1eged volatHons

Closure of Waste Management Units During 2009

Since September 1992 we had been nvolved in the closure of inactive
waste management units the VIRUs at ISWs Peoria Illinois faci ity

pursuant to Consent Order the Consent Order and closure plan apnroved
by the IEPA The closure involved six phase remediaton plan with each

phase requiring separate fnai approval from the IEPA On july 2009 we
received final aporoval trom the TEPA for the completion of the soil portion
nf the plan fnr all of the VIRUs The amount nr remediation we were ult-imat-ely

required to undertake oursuant to such approval was not as extensive as we had
estimated in prior years and accordingly we reduced our accrual for this

matter by $4.2 million during 2009

As oart of the Consent Order we established trust fund the Trust
Fund in which monies were deposited to create cash reserve ror the

corrective action work and for the potential of third party c1aims Through
modification of the Consent Order in 2005 we were then permitted to withdraw
funds from the Trust Fund as we incurred costs related to the remediation In
connection with the IEPAs approval of the soil portion of the VIRUs the IEPA
released approximately $2.0 million of the escrowed funds to us during 2009
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Note Other coxrmtitments and contingencies

Current litigation

From timeto-time we are involved in various environmental
contractual product liability patent or intellectual property employment
and other claims and disputes incidental to our operations In certain cases
we have insurance coverage for these items We currently believe the

disposition of all claims and disputes individually or in the aggregate
should not have material adverse effect on our consolidated financial

position results of operations or liquidity beyond the accruals we have

already provided

Lease commitments

At December 31 2010 we are obligated under certain operating leases

through 2017 Future commitments under these leases are summarized below

Lease commitment

In thousands

2011 727

2012 543
2013 190

2014 150
2015 150

Thereafter 225
Total $1985

Product supply agreements

In 1996 we entered into fifteen year product supply agreement with

vendor whereby the vendor constructed plant at K8Ws Peoria Illinois

facility and subsequently provides us with all subject to certain

limitations of our gaseous oxygen and nitrogen needs unti 2011 In addition

to specifying rates to be paid by us including minimum facility fee of

approximately $1.5 million per year the supply agreement also specifies
provisions for adjustments to the rates and term of the supply agreement
Purchases made pursuant to the supply agreement during 2008 2009 and 2010

amounted to $3.9 million $3.1 million and $3.3 million respectively

We also have product supply agreement with vendor that processes
certain by products of our electric arc furnace mini mill under which we are

required to pay fixed monthly fee aggregating $.9 million year through
2016 Purchases made pursuant to the supply agreement during 2008 2009 and
2010 amounted to $2.4 million $2.6 million and $2.2 million respectively

Concentration of credit risk

We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers financial
condition and generally require no collateral from our customers

The percentage of external sales related to our segments ten

largest customers and the customers at each of our segments that accounted
for more than 10% of that segments external sales during 2010 one customer
at K8W and two customers at EWPis set forth in the following table
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KSW EW Calinnet

Ten largest customers
of segments sales 62% 51% 50%

of consolidated sales 53% 5% 3%

Customers 10%
of segments sales 12% 24%
of consolidated sales 10% 2%

Note 10 Other accrued liabilities

December 31
2009 2010

In thousands
Current

Employee benefits $10456 $12679
Self insurance 4431 4935
Environmental 430 472

Other 3012 4815

Total $8329 $22901

Noncurrent
Workers compensation payments 2315 1242
Environmental 300 265

Other 253 342

Total 2868 1849

Note 11 Financial instruments

The following table presents the carrying aiue and estimated fair value
of our financial instruments

December 31 December 31
2009 2010

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

amount value amount value

In thousands

Restricted cash equivalents 249 249 250 250

Accounts receivable net 41231 41231 46765 46765
Accounts payable 5577 5577 6694 6694

Long-term debt
Variablerate debt 18166 18166 27740 27740
Fixed-rate debt 7204 6680 941 1019
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Due to their nature the carrying amounts of our restricted cash

equivalents and variable rate indebtedness are considered equivalent to fair
value Additionally due to their near term maturities the carrying amounts

of accounts receivable and accounts payable are considered equivalent to fair

value The fair value of our fixed-rate indebtedness was based on the net

present value of our remaining debt payments at an interest rate commensurate
with our variable rate debt which represents Level inputs as defined in ASC

Topic 820-10-35 Note that 99% of the carrying value of our fixed rate debt at

December 31 2010 and 12% of the carrying value of our fixed rate debt at
December 31 2009 relates to $1.1 million non interest bearing note Because

it is non-interest bearing we have calculated an imputed interest rate on the
note and carry the note at value discounted for such interest

Note 12 Related party transactions

We may be deemed to be controlled by Mr Harold Simmons See Note

Corporations that may be deemed to be controlled by or affiliated with Mr
Simmons sometimes engage in intercorporate transactions such as guarantees
management and expense sharing arrangements shared fee arrangements joint
ventures partnerships loans options advances of funds on open account and

sales leases and exchanges of assets including securities issued by both
related and unrelated parties and common investment and acquisition
strategies business combinations reorganizations recapitalizations
securities repurchases and purchases and sales and other acquisitions and

dispositions of subsidiaries divisions or other business units which

transactions have involved both related and unrelated parties and have included
transactions which resulted in the acquisition by one related party of

publicly-held minority eouity interest in another related party We

periodically consider review and evaluate and urderstard that Contran and

related entities consider review and tvaiuate such ransactions Depending
uno the buminess tax and other objectIves en reievart it is possible that
we might be party to ore or more such transactions ir the future

Under the terms of an intercorporate servccs agreement the ISA
entered into between us and Contran employees or Contran provide certain

management tax planning legal financial and administratIve services on

tee basis Such charges are based noon estimates or the Lime devoted by the

employees of Contran to our affairs and the compensation of such nersons
Because of the iarge rumber companies arriliated Contran believe
we benefit rrom cost savings and economies of scale gained by not having
certain management legal financial and administrative staffs dup Icated at
each entity thus allowing certain individuals to provide services to multiple
companies but only be compensated by one entity During 2008 2009 and 2010
the ISA fees charged to us by Contran aggregated approximately $1.8 million
$2.0 million and $2.1 million respectively

Tail Pines Insurance Company Tall Pines and SWI RB Inc BWr
provide ror or broker certain insurance policies for Contran and certain of its

subsidiaries and affiliates inc udinr us Tall Pines is an indirect

subsidiary of Vaihi tnt majurity awnad subsidiary of quntran BWI is

wholly owned subsidiary or NL Industries Inc publicly-held company which
is majority owned by Vaihi Inc Consistent with insurance industry practices
Tall Pines and SWI receive commissions from the insurance and reinsurance
underwriters and/or assess fees for the policies they provide or broker We

paid Tall Pines and EWI $3.8 million in 2008 $d.0 million in 2009 and $3.7
million in 2010 ror insurance reinsurance premiums paid to third parties and
commissions Tall Pines purchases reinsurance for substantially all of the

risks it underwrites We expect these relationships with Tall Pines and EWI
will continue in 2011
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Contran and certain of its subsidiaries and affiliates including us
purchase certain of our insurance policies as group with the costs of the

jointly-owned policies being apportioned among the participating companies
With respect to certain of such policies it is possible that unusually large
losses incurred by one or more insureds during given policy period could
leave the other participating companies without adequate coverage under that

policy for the balance of the policy period As result Contran and certain
of its subsidiaries and affiliates including us have entered into loss

sharing agreement under which any uninsured loss is shared by those entities
who have submitted claims under the relevant policy We believe the benefits
in the form of reduced premiums and broader coverage associated with the group
coverage for such policies justifies the risk associated with the potential for
any uninsured loss

Prior to 2008 we formed Alter Recycling Company LLC ARC joint
venture with Alter Trading Corporation ATC to operate ferrous scrap
recycling operation at KSW We have scrap supply agreement with ATC and we
source the majority of our ferrous scrap supply under this agreement During
2008 2009 and 2010 we purchased approximately $268.9 million $105.5
million and $205.9 million respectively of ferrous scrap from ATC and

approximately $.7 million $.5 million and $.5 million respectively of
ferrous scrap from ARC

Note 13 Quarterly financial data unaudited

19t Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter Quarter
In thousands except per share data

Year ended oecerriher 31 2009
Net sales 60475 70511 800363 90998
Gross profit loss 1799 5239 14911 4209

Not incorre loss i.374 j..f00 958f k..J2..222

Basic and diluted net ncone loss per
share f._jQjf 0.08 0.48 IJ.Q..ki

Year ended December 31 2010
Net sales 99743 $134970 $113608 $102424
Gross profit loss 10505 14724 5508 3333
Net income loss 16749 L...2S3.1P L.ILJ.Q.Q

Basic and diluted net income loss per
share j.QJ4 0.19 1__Q.J2

During the first two quarters of 2009 the domestic and international
economic crises and the resulting adverse impact of the credit market on
construction projects resulted in customers choosing to conserve cash by
liquidating inventories and limiting orders Given the sharply reduced
market demand we operated our facilities on substantially reduced production
schedules which resulted in much higher percentage of fixed costs included
in cost of goods sold during the first half of 2009 as these costs could not be
capitalized into inventory

Due to competitive pressures throughout 2010 we experienced significant
margin compression as we were not able to implement selling price increases
sufficient to entirely recover increases in operating costs including ferrous
scrap
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On quarterly basis we estimate the LIFO reserve balance that will be

required at the end of the year based on projections of year-end quantities
and costs and we record pro-rated year-to-date change in the LIFO reserve
from the prior year end At the end of each year we calculate the required
LIFO reserve balance based on actual year-end quantities and costs
Throughout 2009 and 2010 our quarterly results were impacted by significant
LIFO adjustments Other items impacting the comparability of 2009 and 2010

quarterly results include

2009 credit related to the release of accrued environmental costs

for certain inactive waste management units as discussed in Note
and

impairment charges to reduce Calumets inventory to its net

realizable value during 2009

These items net of tax and their impact on net income loss is

presented in the following table

10t Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter Quarter

In thousands

veer ended oecember 31 2009
Decreese LIFO reserve $2799 3411 2205 1057
Impeirment of Oelurnets inventory 933 530 223 74
Releese of environmentel eccruele 2604 _______ ______

Total inpect on net income lose 956 5i195 41982

Year ended December 31 2010
Decrease increase in LIFO reserve 248 164 $1356 $1759
Impairment of Calumets inventory 57 34 15 75

Total impact on net income loss flQ 1Q 51371 1834
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